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Statement from the Chair of
 the Governing Council
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Chairperson Ian Landsmeer resigning as well as 
council members in Peter Trefort, Grant Arthur and 
Maree Gough. The loss of these valued community 
members was a severe blow to this council and 
necessarily meant that the initial few months of the 
year were devoted to re - stabilising the council 
membership before then focusing on College goals.

We commenced the year with a series of goals 
related to the College’s Strategic Plan including 
operational plans. We had formed three working 
parties being Course Focus, Resources and Fu-
ture Directions/Planning in 2006 to address issues 
in 2007 however with the loss of 4 of our council 
members, this process was abandoned in favour 
of a consolidation year where we would accept the 
operational plans of the college and support those 
directions for the college.

Unfortunately, 2007 was a very poor year for ser-
vice delivery under the terms of our contract with 
the Department of Education and Training (DET).

As an autonomous College, we contract to DET 
to deliver Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) under 
a Profi le matrix and are paid accordingly. If we do 
not deliver the quantum of hours contracted for, we 
repay the Department for hours not delivered.

Our contracted hours for 2007 started at  582,900 
but were progressively renegotiated by 
management in conjunction with the DET. The fi rst 
reduction in target was due to the adoption of the 
innovation project, reducing the target to 573,320. 
(2nd addendum).

The March and September adjustments 
subsequent to the point where we fi nally contracted 
for and delivered around 500,000 SCH.

This low level of delivery has signifi cant fi nancial 
effects on the college. As most of our workforce 
consists of “permanent” employees, we are 
unable to adjust our workforce level readily when 
the student population diminishes. This was the 
case in 2006 and 2007 as low unemployment and 
diminished farm fi nancial viability due to poor rainfall 
effects combined in 2007.

As a low unemployment rate is generally a good 
economic outcome, we must adapt to the new 
economic conditions and attract students who would 
normally come to us for training easily with a more 
business like approach. Our students are our 
number one priority and attracting students is critical 
to our ongoing operation.

Our Managing Director position has been advertised 
and we should hear what the outcome of that
process is by 28th February. The Department of 
Premier and Cabinet appoints and supplies the MD 
to our College.

I would like to thank our current MD, Peter Mahler, 
for his stewardship in 2007 in particular but also for 
the past 8 years or so that Peter has been MD.

I am optimistic that 2008 will see a reinvigorated 
approach to our service delivery and the Governing 
Council is fully committed to our contracted delivery 
target of 562,745 SCH for 2008.

I would like to thank my fellow councillors for their 
perseverance in 2007 and hope that our efforts will 
bear fruit in 2008.

To our staff, I thank you for your contribution in 2007 
and look forward to you again rising to the 
challenges in 2008.

Steven Pollard
Acting Chairperson

It is with pleasure that I
offer this report on 2007
from the Governing
Council’s perspective.

The Governing Council
went through a series of 
personnel changes early
in the year with our



Membership of the Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is a Statutory Authority with a Governing Council responsible to the 
Minister for Education and Training.

The Governing Council has the authority, conferred by the Vocational Education and Training Act 
1996, to perform the following functions:

 • Prepare a College Training Profi le for the approval of the Minister and    
  when required by the Minister.
 • Develop and implement strategic and management plans for the College.
 • To monitor the College’s performance and initiate improvements where    
  necessary.
 • Ensure that College courses, programs and services are responsive to,    
  and meet the needs of students, industry and the community.
 • Ensure that the College’s commitments under its Resource Agreement and   
  any other contractual arrangements are met.

The Governing Council, under the act, delegates the strategic operation and management of the 
College to the Managing Director.
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Suzanne Waters is an Advanced 
Skills Lecturer at C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE. Suzanne 
lectures in Teacger Assistant 
and the Course in Applied 
Vocational Study Skills (literacy 
and numeracy support to VET 
students). Suzanne is also a 
State School Teachers Union 
W.A. Representative.

Andrew Drummond is the 
student representative.

Jan Court is passionate about 
delivery of training to coastal 
areas. She is profi cient, positive 
and committed to communities.

Heidi Astbury is a staff 
representative on Govern-
ing Council. Her position is 
that of Principal Lecturer for 
the College. Currently Heidi 
is on secondment from C.Y. 
O’Connor and although she 
is working at Narrogin for the 
District Education Offi ce as 
Manager Participation, Heidi is 
also assisting in tender 
applications.

Steven Pollard is Acting Chair 
of the Governing Council. 
Steven is a self employed 
Certifi ed Practising Accountant 
(CPA) and the President of the 
Shire of Northam. He is also 
Chairman of Essential 
Personnel, a disability 
employment agency operating 
in the Wheatbelt.

Eileen O’Connell is 
President of the Shire of 
Nungarin and also involved 
in many community and 
sporting groups.

Celia Martin is a 
representative from the 
Wheatbelt Aboriginal 
Community.

Peter Mahler is Managing 
Director of C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE and Deputy 
Chair of the Australian Grains 
Institute.

Sally Higgins is the Mayor of 
the Town of Narrogin.

Footnote: Ian Landsmeer, Maree Gooch and Grant Arthur were also memebrs for part of 
the year.



Managing Director’s Summary 2007
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This year saw the College gain recognition at the 
highest level. We had two fi nalists for the 
Premier’s Teacher of the year Awards, lecturer 
Steve Madson was the round one fi nalist and 
Penny Jaworski was a round two fi nalist. Jodie 
Syson was 2007 Youth of the Year Award fi nalist 
in the category of individual citizenship. We had 
many other achievements by College staff. Steve 
Paxman one of our Lecturers received recognition 
from the City of Perth as one of the one hundred 
local heroes that provide positive and enduring 
benefi ts to the Town of Northam and surrounds.

2007 has also seen considerable work in the 
development of a new, more streamlined Strategic 
Plan which more accurately presents the strategic 
priorities for the College and align with State and 
Federal training policies. Other areas the College 
have developed include creating opportunities for 
people with disabilities and the indigenous 
population in the region An example is the 
introduction of Abmusic to C.Y. O’Connor College. 
We continued with the James Dawson Award, 
This award offers recognition to students of the 
College with a disability. 

The College has also been proactive in 
addressing the State’s skills shortages, especially 
in traditional trades and agricultural professions. 
We have seen a signifi cant increase in the 
number of apprentices and trainees undertaking 
training through the College, and have exceeded 
our targets. 

The College has continued to place importance 
on addressing the State’s “Creating the Future” 
priorities in retention and training of the 15–19 
year-old cohort. Work has been progressing 
on implementing seamless, multiple learning 
pathways, offering improved training outcomes 
and choices for youth in the region.

We have undertaken many new environmentally 
benefi cial projects such as the installation of 
rainwater tanks and a new integrated irrigation 
system at the Salmon Gum Conservation Nursery 
at Moora. 

The focus on improvement has continued in 2007. 
This year a large number of staff have undergone 
training especially Management Training in the 
academic area, it is expected that this will provide 
practical benefi t to the College in 2008. 

It is gratifying to me that we are providing an 
environment that has given our students a 
positive training experience at the College. This 
has been confi rmed by the Student Satisfaction 
conducted by Colmar Brunton Intelligence (an 
independent survey company) which found 90% 
of our students to be satisfi ed with their training, 
3% greater than the state average.

The Wheatbelt is an area of 154,000 square 
kilometres, that is sparsely populated and 
presents a unique challenge in its diversity. 
Servicing this area requires fl exibility,
 innovation and dedication and I thank all staff 
for their contributions. The determination of the 
College to deliver a high standard of training is a 
refl ection of their efforts and I commend them. I 
also acknowledge the tireless effort and guidance 
of the Governing Council. With a population of 
only 72,000 people we have delivered training to 
over 5000 students. This includes a total of 3789 
Profi le students. These fi gures show an increase 
over the previous year. 

Peter Mahler
Managing Director



Strategic Directi ons

Vision
To be the regional provider of choice for education, training and lifelong learning in the 
communities we serve.

Mission
Leading the Wheatbelt Region into a sustainable future by:

• Providing relevant lifelong learning opportunities.
• Providing quality education and training through learning options and effective 
 partnerships.
• Enhancing the community’s skills to further economic, environmental and social 
 development
• Developing our staff to increase their knowledge and skills enabling them to provide   
 relevant training services.
• Being recognised by the community as a valued citizen

Values
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is committed to:

Customer Service
Providing customers with a quality service which they value and is responsive to their needs.

Learning and Development
Providing a learning and working environment that is friendly, inclusive and provides personal and 
professional development.

Conti nuous Improvement and Innovati on
Active participation in the development and implementation of training services in response to 
changing community needs.

Access and Equity
Equitable access to services and facilities regardless of age, gender, culture, disability or distance 
from a learning centre.

Organisati onal and Personal Integrity
An environment that is guided by the values and principles of honesty, consultation, and respect.

Achievement of organisati onal outcomes
Recognising personal achievement and meeting organisational outcomes.
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College Prioriti es

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2007 Page 9

Providing quality educati on and lifelong learning and training
 opportuniti es through eff ecti ve partnership

Contribute to the community to further enhance economic,
 environmental and social development

Developing our staff  to increase knowledge and skills, 
enabling the provision of relevant training services

Being recognised by the community as a valued citi zen

James Dawson Award recipients for 2007 



Services and Faciliti es

We provide Aboriginal Program Assistants and 
Aboriginal Development Offi cers to assist 
community groups and individuals, 
encouraging participation and completion of 
training by Indigenous members of the
community. 

Customer Feedback Offi cers are available to 
students to address any issues or concerns.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is committed to 
providing a very high quality of training and 
associated services for our students.

Services based at the Northam campus include:

• The Bookshop which carries a range    
 of materials and books relevant to    
 TAFE training. Mail orders are accepted   
 to ensure all students have access;
• The Canteen which provides
 refreshments and nutritious food in an
 air-conditioned facility, where students   
 and staff are welcome to gather;  
• The Library which provides a variety    

 of materials including books,
 pamphlets, video recordings, audio   
 cassettes and journals. The library    
 provides DVDs and CD-ROMs on    
 overnight loan. Students are invited 
 to borrow books by mail or come to    
 Northam in person;
•  The Equity Offi cer who provides
 assistance to students who are
 experiencing barriers to learning.
 Each campus has computers available
 for student use.

Skills Recognition is offered to those with
experience in the fi eld of their chosen
qualifi cation. This is the formal 
acknowledgement of skills, knowledge and
competencies that individuals have gained 
through work, informal training and life 
experience.
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C.Y. O’Connor Northam Campus Library



College Environment
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is an 
autonomous College and is part of the 
Australian Vocational Education and Training 
System, operating under the National Training 
Framework and Australian Qualifi cation
Framework. Training is offered across all levels 
from Certifi cates I, II, III and IV to Diplomas and 
Advanced Diplomas.

The College is an innovative and progressive 
training organisation, committed to meeting the 
education and training needs of Western
Australia’s Wheatbelt region. 

Our mission refl ects the desire to contribute to 
a strong and vibrant Wheatbelt community. We 
have adopted a culture of continuous 
improvement which enables the College to
encourage organisational growth and 
development to improve our ways of working. 

The College is committed to enhancing 
relationships with communities, industry and
individual enterprises by being responsive to 
the skills and knowledge requirements of public 
and private sector organisations. C.Y. O’Connor 
is unique in the fl exibility and versatility of its 
offerings through a variety of delivery options 
and partnerships which meet industry training 
needs.

C.Y. O’Connor College has a strong customer 
focus in delivery and assessment and is 
committed to maximising student, customer and 
staff satisfaction by actively monitoring, 
reviewing and continuously improving and 
customising our products and services. The 
Australian Quality Training Framework 
Standards accreditation and auditing processes 
ensure the College operates effi ciently and 
effectively. The increase in the student 
satisfaction rate from 89% in 2006 to 90% in 
2007 refl ects this focus.

C.Y. O’Connor College was established in 1995 
and is comprised of four regional campuses, 
located at Merredin, Moora, Narrogin and 
Northam. Additional TAFE administrative
support operates in Bindoon, Jurien Bay, 
Kondinin, Pingelly and Quairading. The 
College also has partnerships with many of the 
43 Telecentres throughout the region. With an 
area of 154,000 square kilometres
encompassing 44 different shires, and a 
population of 72,000, the Wheatbelt Region 
is one of Western Australia’s most sparsely 
distributed regions. 

The College supports the pursuit of 
sustainability in the Wheatbelt and embraces 
sustainability principles in its day to day 
operations, planning activities, and in the 
delivery of Vocational Education and Training 
services. All employees are encouraged and 
empowered to support sustainability.

C.Y. O’ Connor College of TAFE  provides a 
diverse range of services including:

• Vocational education consultancy     
 and competency-based training
 according to the Australian Quality     
 Training Framework (AQTF);
• Short course programs and just-in-time    
 training;
• Corporate training;
• Industry consultancy;
• Delivery of VET for schools;
• Provision of curriculum and learning     
 materials (including electronic access);
• Auspicing services for work-based     
 training;
• Research and Development 
 consultancies;
• Career Counselling and job readiness skills;
• Work Based Delivery and Assessment/
 Traineeship and Apprenticeships to New and    
 Existing Employers;
• Holistic Skills Recognition.
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Organisati onal Structure

Academic Policy and
Projects Manager

Kathy Pollard

Regional Manager
Eastern Region
Ric Newman

Manager Customer Services
Tiffany Maddox

A/Portfolio Director
Trades & Industries

Peter Chiffings

Manager Finance
Vacant

Director Business
Services

David Rampono

Manager Learning
Resources

Vacant

Managing Director
Peter Mahler

Regional Manager
Northern Region

Dean O'Callaghan

Manager Information
Technology

Brenden O'Driscoll

Principal Lecturer
Peter Forbes

Manager Quality & Planning
Darryl Forward

A/Director Research
& Planning

Peter Harding

Director Academic
Services

Delia Pascua-McGlew

A/Regional Manager
Southern Region

Dale Lloyd

Manager Community
Relations
Alan Jelly

A/Aboriginal Development
Officer - Northern

Leonie Dick

Portfolio Director
Primary Industries &
Learning Enterprises

Peter McGlew

A/Principal Lecturer
Sharon Ross

Director People & 
Performance

Michael Bowman

Data Administrator
Peter McFarlane

Portfolio Director
Business &

Social Sciences
Kim Macleaod

Equity Officer
Samantha Connor

Manager Commercial
Services

Michelle Pratt

Aboriginal Development
Officer - Southern
Raelene Kickett
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Desired Outcomes for Public 
Training Providers

The college performs functions as conferred on 
it by the Vocational Education and Training
 (VET)  Act 1996 or by the Minister by order 
published in the Government Gazette as
detailed below:

• Provide Vocational Education and
 Training consistent with a College
 Training Profi le;

• Provide to an employer, a group of 
 employers or any other persons or
 authorities such Fee-For-Service training   
 programs as are authorised by the
 Minister for Training;

• Undertake research and development
 related to Vocational Education and
 Training which has a direct practical 
 application to industry, commerce and   
 the community;

• Promote equality of opportunity in the 
 undertaking of Vocational Education and 
 Training;

• Provide or arrange for the delivery of
 services to students;

• Participate in initiatives involving the
  whole of the State training system and   
 collaborate with other Colleges    
 and educational institutions to ensure the   
 greatest effectiveness and economy in   
 expenditure and the most benefi cial
 relationship with other Colleges and 
 educational institutions throughout the   
 State; 

• Contribute to the general development of
  the community in the region of the College
 through activities such as the provision
 of adult and community education, as
 may be authorised by the Minister;

• Provide, on behalf of another education
 authority, post-secondary education as is
 approved by the Minister.
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Samantha Connor presenting at 
the Australian Flexible Learning 

Framework Conference



Report on Operati ons

Business and Social Sciences

The Business and Social Sciences section 
covers a very wide range of training courses, 
from Multi Media, Information Technology and 
Art, to Community Services, Health, Access and 
Equity Programs and a number of other 
business courses.

The Diploma of Enrolled Nursing course, which 
has taken over a year of planning, commenced 
in 2007. This course is intended to help 
improve the skill shortage of nurses in the state. 
We hope it will provide an opportunity to people 
in the Wheatbelt to gain a qualifi cation in the 
health industry and ultimately a job. The 
Diploma of Enrolled Nursing has been run on 
both Northam and Narrogin campuses. In the 
future we hope the training will be more fl exible 
in the way it is delivered and we are planning to 
provide training utilising the internet. 

Business and Social Science training is being 
delivered more fl exibly and more courses are 
being developed through such delivery modes 
as online, utilising WebCT. WebCT is an online 
library where resources of information can be 
accessed. Internet or online training is a virtual 
classroom environment where students with 
internet access can go online and share ideas, 
discuss ideas and share experiences with fellow 
students. These students may be from very
 different walks of life. This means they can 
access this training from their lounge room, 
from a Telecentre or anywhere else that they 
wish. Providing the training more fl exibly means 
that there is less distance to travel and although 
there may be some travel required, it will be 
signifi cantly less than at present.

We have recently commenced delivering MYOB 
utilising online delivery and text where students 
are required to study externally. We are also 
delivering Aged Care utilising an online/virtual 
classroom environment. This is proving to be 
very successful with a number of students from 
SilverChain and other organisations getting 
together and sharing their experiences.
Wheatbelt Country Health has been a 
signifi cant supporter in providing training to staff 
throughout the Wheatbelt in Aged Care and we 
thank them for their support.

The business team supports a signifi cant 
amount of training for trainees throughout the 
Wheatbelt. Congratulations should go to the 
business team for winning the traineeship
awards for three fi nalists in the Wheatbelt 
School Based Trainee of the Year and three 
fi nalists in the Wheatbelt Trainee of the Year 
Awards. 

This year has been very exciting in that the 
College have been able to offer music to 
indigenous people. Through Ab Music the 
College have been able to set up and offer 
the learning of instruments and song writing 
in Northam. It has been supported extremely 
well by the students and, through the students 
efforts, they have written some songs we hope 
will be included in the bands repertoire. 

The College has also recommenced Clothing 
Production which has also been very well 
supported by the Indigenous community. 
Students have produced fabulous items 
including clothing and accessories and have 
said they have really enjoyed being able to 
complete so many different projects.
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Report on Operati ons

The VET in schools program has continued 
strongly this year providing Business and
Information Technology training to a signifi cant 
number of school students, particularly in 
Moora, Merredin, Toodyay and Kellerberrin. 

The College has been mindful that we have 
found it diffi cult to provide for the more remote 
District High Schools at present and in the past. 
This is usually due to the number of students 
in each District High School being too small to 
assign a lecturer for training. So in 2008 we are, 
for the fi rst time, offering Business and
Information Technology training partially through 
online delivery. This means that small numbers 
of students from each District High School 
can actually experience the training that larger 
District High Schools and senior high schools 
currently enjoy. They can attend training at the 

same time as the District High School students 
and join in classes with students from other 
schools. This provides an opportunity for 
students from different areas and different walks 
of life to talk and exchange their experiences 
and even share their diffi culties and problems 
and to support each other.
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The new nursing lecturers in the demonstration ward at Northam 
Campus of C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE. 

Front Row L to R: Micky Zampicelli, Lisa Lawlor, Anne Foyer, Tonia 
Naylor. Back Row L to R: Elize Pronk, Vija Veeman, Megan Thurkle, 

Deirdre Rostron, Philippa Page.



Report on Operati ons

Primary Industries & Learning 
Enterprises 

The Primary Industries and Learning 
Enterprises section provides a wide range of 
training in the areas of Rural Production, 
Conservation and Land Management, Amenity 
Horticulture, Children’s Services, Teachers 
Assistant, Adult Literacy and Numeracy. 

As in the previous year, 2007 continued to 
present considerable challenges relating to the 
resource boom, low unemployment, drought 
and scarcity of skilled lecturing staff.  However, 
despite these diffi culties, the section succeeded 
in meeting targets in many qualifi cation areas 
and also made some outstanding
 achievements.

The Wool Harvesting area in a collaborative 
application with Wheatbelt Connect (CYOC 
Commercial Services Section) won 75% of the 
states Australian Wool Innovation (AWI) tender 
for “in shed shearing coaching” for 2007, and 
managed to win the whole (100%) tender as the 
sole provider in Western Australia for the 
coming three years.  This area also picked up 
50% of the State Shearing tender which has 
previously been delivered by another provider.  
The College’s participation in these programs 
has seen Wool Harvesting Traineeships 
continue to increase throughout the year.

For the fi rst time, C.Y. O’Connor College 
delivered the Wool Classing qualifi cations in 
their own right, having successfully registered 
as a provider with the Australian Wool Echange 
(AWEX), enabling students to apply for and 
receive their wool classing stencils from AWEX 

on successful completion of their qualifi cation.  
The programs presented by the wool 
harvesting/classing team found much favour 
with clients and delivery in this area grew 
strongly in 2007.

The PILE area continued to work with 
Wheatbelt Connect to provide tractor and
harvest operations and stock handling on a fee-
for-service basis to the Department of 
Agriculture and Food.  A number of ChemCert 
course were also delivered at different locations 
within the region.

Traineeships in Rural Production more than 
doubled during 2007 and this team completed a 
highly successful year.  Some exciting new 
developments in this area include Certifi cate III 
in Rural Merchandising with the many Rural 
Supply businesses across the region.   Also 
Certifi cate III in Rural Operations will replace 
the non- accredited Grains Course that has 
been delivered to the CBH Group for a number 
of years.  This new training package 
qualifi cation will allow greater fl exibility and a 
range of Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) for 
previous work experience and in-house 
training. Gaining this qualifi cation will also open 
up pathways for participants to progress onto 
other nationally accredited qualifi cations.

Amenity Horticulture have an entirely new team 
who have put in much hard work to get this area 
moving again which has resulted in 
improvements on the previous year. They are 
set to maintain this trend in 2008.  Programs in 
Horticulture and Conservation and Land 
Management were delivered to a number of 
District and Senior High Schools in our regions.
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Report on Operati ons

The Teacher Assistant team planned and
implemented a year’s work right on target in 
addition to getting a new training package 
prepared for delivery in 2008. Children’s 
Services have done considerable work with 
Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) and have 
maintained exceptionally good links with 
industry and Government to look at how best to 
serve this industry area.

Adult Literacy has opened up some exciting
opportunities in partnership with Directions 
working with youth at risk.  This year also saw 
a coordinated approach to the provision of  
the Course in Applied Vocational Study Skills 
(CAVSS) to many of the Trades students
attending block releases at the College, 
providing them with extra in-class support in 
literacy and numeracy where needed. The New 

Opportunities for Women course kicked off 
delivery using Web Conferencing (on-line), 
servicing clients across the region that 
previously would not have been able to access 
the services of the College.

PILE also had two lecturers in the fi nals for 
the 2007 Premier’s Teacher of the Year Award, 
each receiving $1,000.00 prize money.

The Semi-Intensive Floating Tank System 
(SIFTS) project – a partnership involving C.Y. 
O’Connor TAFE, Springfi eld Waters, McRobert 
Aquaculture Systems and Challenger TAFE – 
moved into it’s fi nal stage with fi ndings of the 
research being documented in the coming six 
months.
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Penny Jaworski, Lecturer - Children Services was a fi nalist in the 
2007 Premiers Teacher of the Year Awards



Report on Operati ons

Trades & Industry 

The Trades and Industry Portfolio Area provides 
training to students, apprentices and trainees in 
the areas of Automotive Mechanics, Heavy Duty 
Diesel Mechanics, Metal Fabrication, Local 
Government, Building & Construction, 
Hospitality, Sport and Recreation, Retail and 
Tourism.

With demand for the Recreational Skippers 
Tickets by the general public decreasing, we 
have extended our training to include many of 
the schools in the Wheatbelt, offering students 
the opportunity to participate in an eight day 
course on boating which in turn results in them 
gaining their Ticket. A boat has been donated to 
the College through Northam Share and Care 
to enable it to continue to offer the Recreational 
Skippers Ticket to regional students in a class 
environment.

The College workshops have been reorganised 
to include more block releases in the areas of 
Construction, Fabrication and Automotive as a 
result of industry requests to maintain our “Blue 
Ribbon” delivery strategies. 

The College received a grant of $300,000.00 to 
upgrade tools to enable the students’ 
continuous access to tools during their block 
releases on campus. Students are shown skills 
that may not be found in the workplace (e.g. 
Scaffolding). This allows Lecturing staff to 
oversee students both in the workplace and in 
the block release environment. We have also 
taken delivery of an Excavator and Skidsteer 
Loader to further diversify our ability to deliver 
to students.

The Moora workshop was reopened after a fi ve 
year closure which now enables local schools 
students the opportunity to participate in 
Construction, Automotive and Fabrication units.

The Trades area continues to offer Retail, 
Tourism, Hospitality, Ranger and Local 
Government training to students in many areas 
of the state. Although not large in student 
numbers, the lecturers involved provide expert 
tuition. 

School delivery has become a major part of our 
delivery due to students’ requirement to 
maintain their studies. Casual lecturing staff 
numbers have increased to keep up the 
demand required to deliver these extra courses. 
A new course now being offered is Certifi cate I 
in Trades assistant. Students are able 
complete their Certifi cate within 2-6 months. 
Skills gained include using hand tools, 
preparing for work, complete a work task,
obtaining a Blue Card and many other skills 
required to work in a Trades workplace.

The College continues to deliver Retail, 
Hospitality, Furniture Construction and First Aid 
to the State’s prisons. Construction and 
Furniture have seen increases, particularly at 
Wooroloo, where brick paving and small 
shelters have been constructed by the prisoners 
under the supervision of our lecturers. Delivery 
of Retail and Hospitality has remained steady in 
the prisons that have retail outlets and suitable 
kitchen areas.
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Although the mining industry to the north of the 
State draws many tradesmen away to work 
there, the College has maintained suitable staff 
to lecture in the relevant high demand areas, 
and staff continue to meet the high standards 
that industry demands. Specialty courses in 
Alcohol Awareness, Blue Card, Forklift, 
Recreational Skippers Ticket, Scaffolding, 
Ranger Training, Skidsteer and Excavator 

Operator, Air-Conditioning etc, continue to 
see staff working long hours and driving many 
kilometers in order to fulfi ll client’s requests. 
The Trades staff look forward to an exciting 
2008 with many new initiatives in the pipeline to 
attract new students. 
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Southern Region 

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s Southern 
Region comprises of the shires of Brookton, 
Cuballing, Dumbleyung, Kondinin, Kulin, Lake 
Grace, Narrogin, Pingelly, Wagin, Wandering, 
West Arthur and Williams. The College 
campus is located in the town of Narrogin. Two 
centres are located in Pingelly and Kondinin. 
2007 saw the introduction of the delivery of 
Enrolled Nursing at both Northam and Narrogin 
Campuses. In 2008 we hope to further expand 
on the delivery of Health studies to the region.

Narrogin has acquired new state of the art trade 
workshop facilities. This has enabled the 
Narrogin Campus to further enhance the 
delivery of quality trades training to the region.

The Gaining Access to Training and 
Employment program was run successfully from 
Careers on Track. The 2007 program was run 
in close partnership with Narrogin Senior High 
School and being vocationally focused, assisted 
students to prepare for employment. We are 
very proud to report that three students have 
found work, three have been involved with work 
experience and one is intending to return to 
school for year 11 studies in 2008.

Narrogin’s Shearing & Wool Handling lecturer 
Stephen Madson was selected as a fi nalist 
in the 2007 Premier’s Teacher of the Year 
Award. Stephen’s nomination and subsequent 
selection as a fi nalist acknowledges Stephen’s 
efforts in forging strong networks with the 
shearing and woolhandling industry. Several 
of Stephen’s teaching initiatives have been 
adopted nationally and his efforts have ensured 
an increase in wool industry trainees throughout 
our College and the TAFEWA system.

In conjunction with ‘Small Business Centre 
- Wheatbelt South’, the Aspire Program was 
developed to provide specialised business
planning assistance to people with a disability. 
The program was run in the form of weekly 
workshops which assisted the participants from 
the stage of deciding if owning a business is 
right for them, through to developing a business 
plan and ensuring ongoing business success. 
The target outcome of the program is to assist 
the participants’ progress towards self 
employment or employment.

Year 10 Aboriginal School Based Traineeship 
students from Narrogin Senior High School and 
Brookton District High School participated in 
completing a Certifi cate I in Workplace
Readiness. The students were required to 
engage in three components of their 
Traineeship - School, TAFE and Work 
Experience. Local Indigenous participants from 
KEEDAC Narrogin Project Centre celebrated 
completion of Certifi cate I in Business. This has 
gained the participants an opportunity to create
pathways and has provided skills for future 
employment. 

‘Glancing Back’ A Visual Arts and 
Contemporary Crafts Student’s Exhibition was 
held at the Nexus Art Gallery in Narrogin 
during November. Work by C.Y. O’Connor 
students was displayed in the gallery over a one 
week period. 

2007 saw an increase in VET delivered to 
District High and Senior High Schools. 
Successful delivery included Grooming & 
Deportment, Horticulture, and Mechanics.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2007 Page 20



Report on Operati ons

Northern Region 

The northern region of C.Y. O’Connor College of 
TAFE encompasses the Shires of Moora, 
Dalwallinu, Dandaragan, Gingin Chittering, 
Victoria Planes and Wongan Hills. The Moora 
Campus is responsible for the administration, 
promotion and delivery of training in these
Shires.

As with the College in general, the Northern 
Region has gone through a diffi cult year. In 
Dalwallinu and Kalannie, drought has again 
affected the communities for the second year 
running. Although this year has certainly tested 
many of us, staff have worked extremely hard to 
meet their delivery goals.  

Art lecturers began new courses in Lancelin, 
Gingin, Bindoon and Dalwallinu and the new 
Horticulture lecturer has been instrumental 
in developing partnership arrangements with 
Apace Nursery in North Fremantle.

A partnership with Tiwest Mining resulted in 
Units of Competencies from the Certifi cate I in 
Business being successfully delivered to 
thirteen indigenous students

After consulting with the local Citrus industry, 
a chemical course was delivered at the Moora 
Campus. 

A Memorandum Of Understanding was signed 
by C Y O’Connor College of TAFE and Apace 
Nursery in North Fremantle to propagate 22,000 
seedlings at the Salmon Gum Community 
Conservation Nursery. 

Plants from the Salmon Gum Community 
Conservation Nursery were also propagated 
and delivered in 2007 to the Moora Shire, Birds 
Australia, Trees Midwest and individual farmers 
in the Region.

Telecentres in Lancelin, Gingin and Dalwallinu 
have assisted in developing art and computer 
courses within their Shires.

School students from Central Midlands Senior 
High School enrolled in Certifi cate I and II in 
Information Technology, Certifi cate I in Building 
Construction and Engineering/ Automotive.

A community forum to identify training needs 
was held at Dalwallinu. Members from the 
Telecentre, District High School, Liebe Group, 
local Shire and Wheatbelt Development 
Commission were in attendance.

Close collaboration has taken place with 
Wheatbelt Area Consultative Committee’s 
“Youth Pathways” program.  The Moora 
Campus hosts interactive workshops with young 
secondary students in order to provide guidance 
in their current study program and future 
education and employment opportunities.

The Moora Campus has provided facilities for 
the Department of Education and Training to run 
teacher development workshops for Secondary 
and Primary Teachers. 
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Future Developments

Discussions have been held with the Lancelin 
Department of Environment and Conservation 
to assist in a revegetation program on an 
offshore island.  Students will develop key 
knowledge and skills in propagating cuttings 
from the site and replanting back out on site.

It is expected that in 2008, collaboration will 
again take place with Tiwest Mining, Apace 
Nursery, Moora Shire, Telecentres, Secondary 
Schools, Citrus Industry, Trees Midwest and the 
Moore Catchment Council.
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Eastern Region

The Eastern Region encompasses thirteen 
local government areas centred around the 
major regional centre of Merredin. Courses 
are delivered through established centres at 
Merredin, Kellerberrin and Quairading and 
via an extensive Telecentre network. Flexible 
delivery 
strategies include work based training and 
assessment, videoconferencing and the use of 
computer based online technology.

During 2007 most of the Eastern Regions 
delivery centred on established centres at
Merredin, Kellerberrin and Quairading with 
other programs delivered via Telecentres and in 
the workplace. Major areas of delivery included 
Agriculture, Offi ce and Clerical Studies, 
Business, Computing and Information 
Technology, Conservation and Land 
Management, Teachers Assistant, Visual and 
Performing Arts, Occupational Health and 
Safety and the Certifi cate IV in Training and 
Assessment. A signifi cant number of
apprentices and trainees in the trades, retail 
and local government areas were also serviced. 

VET in Schools continues to grow through 
established partnerships with the Merredin 
Senior High School and the Kellerberrin District 
High School. This program is set to further 
expand in 2008.

An increased range of Fee for Service courses 
were also offered to meet the diverse needs of 
the Wheatbelt Community.

Several students from the region were 
recognised in Training Awards this year. 

Merredin based apprentice Anthony Joss was 
a fi nalist in the State Training Awards in August 
and was runner up for Apprentice of the Year 
at the inaugural Wheatbelt Training Awards. A 
number of apprentices and trainees reached the 
fi nals of these awards and were highly 
commended.

The program of community and business 
consultation commenced in 2006 was continued 
and enhanced in 2007. Regional staff engaged 
with individual enterprises, community groups 
and industry organisations to identify training 
needs, negotiate service provision and promote 
existing programs and opportunities. This has 
proved mutually benefi cial in providing for the 
needs of the region and assisting the College in 
its strategic and operational planning.

The current skills and labour shortages and the 
raising of the school leaving age have 
highlighted the need for enhanced trade training 
facilities in Merredin.  Merredin Senior High 
School and C.Y. O’Connor College are 
co-operating in an endeavour to establish a joint 
Skills Centre to cater for this need. The concept 
has widespread industry and community
support.
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Indigenous Services Unit 

The Indigenous services unit of C.Y. O’Connor 
TAFE consults with Indigenous communities, 
organisations and individuals to identify education 
and training needs and to develop appropriate 
strategies to address these needs.

The Indigenous Services Unit completed the fi nal 
stages of programs that were initiated in 2006 
and developed some new and exciting programs 
in 2007. In 2007 the College has also seen some 
changes in staff positions, we have won tenders 
for some exciting new programs to be delivered 
in 2007-2009 and it is hoped that this concerted 
effort of all involved with the Indigenous services 
section will make for a greater improvement in the 
increase of the participation of Indigenous 
students with CY O’Connor College. 

Projects undertaken in 2007 included: 
Women Learning “Yorga Kadadjiny”. 
This program provided intensive introductory 
training for Indigenous women that recognises 
and further develops their strengths, experience, 
knowledge and skills in relation to personal 
empowerment and leadership capacity building of 
their families and communities. 

AIM HIGH
The target group for this project is Aboriginal 
people who have been in the workforce for a
number of years and who have gained 
considerable knowledge and skills at work. 
Often Aboriginal people do not have time to be 
formally trained or enrolled in higher qualifi cations 
once they are employed. This has restricted 
Aboriginal people opportunities to articulate 
in higher positions or better career pathways. 
Having identifi ed these challenges, C.Y. O’Connor 
College uses the Skills Recognition process 
in a supportive environment. This enables the 
participants to be assessed using different 
methods of providing evidence such as portfolio, 

observation and/or interview. This includes 
establishing a support group: namely a relative; 
an employer or colleague; access and equity 
lecturer; assessor and a community elder. 

All the Aim High participants have  received either 
a full qualifi cation or completed competencies 
towards their qualifi cations, The participants 
then continue their gap training at any time in the 
future.

Certi fi cate III Clothing and Producti on
This Certifi cate was added to our scope in the 
second semester of 2007 as there was a demand 
in the Aboriginal community for such a Certifi cate. 
After much consultation with community groups 
the College started the course with 10 students 
participating. There is a range of age groups and 
it is hoped that these students will progress to 
higher certifi cate levels in the future.

Certi fi cate III Music 
Certifi cate III Music was added to scope in 
2007 as a result of community consultation. 
The course has begun well with two units from 
the training package being delivered at our 
Northam Campus. An open day was held at 
the College in September for this course with 
a good turnout. We are hoping to continue with 
the course in 2008 and it is envisioned that we 
will be in partnership with Abmusic to deliver 
some of the remaining unit at their campus in 
Waterford. 

Certi fi cate IV TAA
This year Indigenous staff at the College have 
undertaken PACD in four units of the TAA in order 
to assist in the classroom environment due to the 
high demand and extra support required for 
Indigenous students. This training will also help 
the staff to deliver cultural awareness training in 
their campuses across the region. 

Report on Operati ons
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It is anticipated that the staff will continue to 
undertake further study in this certifi cate in 2008 
to gain the whole qualifi cation. 

Certi fi cate I, II and III Business
A partnership with local Community 
Development Employment Program (CDEP) 
– KEEDAC has seen the Indigenous women 
participants undertake study in Certifi cate I, 
II and III in Business. Students were enrolled 
in units suited to previous Qualifi cation or 
previous study. This training has been delivered 
in Brookton, Narrogin and Pingelly. Through 
this participants have created pathways for 
development to Certifi cate II, III or to create 
opportunities for employment.  

Skills Set 
A partnership with local Community Development 
Employment Program (CDEP) – KEEDAC has 
seen Indigenous male participants undertake 
skills in variety of areas. Some of the training 
undertaken included Tractor Operations, Blue 
Card Training and Forklift. This training was to 
develop and create opportunities for employment.

AEETC Meeti ngs
The committee consists of CYOC staff, elders 
and community members, who discus Indig-
enous 
education and training issues, advise the Col-
lege on appropriate courses for Indigenous 
communities and organisations. In September 
each year, a planning forum is held to discuss 
and allocate SRA (formally IESIP) funding for 
the next year.            

Aboriginal Employment Education and Training 
Committee (AEETC) meeting are held in the 
Northern and Southern Regions, 4 meetings per 
year are held in each region.  The Indigenous 
services section has undertaken four meetings 
this year. We have held meetings in other 

campuses other than our main camps to 
provide other communities a chance to 
participate in these meetings. 

Cultural Awareness Workshop
This was held in November 2007 with all the 
Indigenous services staff each delivering a 
section of the training. The Indigenous Services 
Unit of the College delivers one session per 
year and targets 20% of staff to attend these 
workshops. The structure has changed this year 
to incorporate delivery from all of the 
Indigenous staff to enable them to deliver the 
training in their own campuses across the
region for future Cross Cultural Awareness 
workshops.

Future Developments 

AETEO
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has applied 
for funding for the position of an Aboriginal 
Education, Training and Employment Offi cer 
through the Department of Education and 
Training. This program will fund an offi cer 
to work with TAFE and other community 
organisations on four sustainable projects 
which will target youth aged 15-21 years and 
people currently disengaged from any form of 
education or training. The program is a two year 
program and we hope to see many exciting pilot 
programs such as this being undertaken here at 
the College in 2008 & 2009.

Indigenous Specifi c locati on
The Indigenous specifi c location has been on 
the Indigenous Services agenda for a number 
of years. Both the Indigenous Services section 
and Wheatbelt Connect are working together 
to identify and apply for funding to enable this 
project to come to fruition for the college and 
the Indigenous community.

Report on Operati ons
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Commercial Services

Due to the resources boom and the necessity to 
have a properly skilled workforce, the demand 
for training within our region is becoming 
stronger. As the major training provider in our 
region, the College has recognised that a 
new approach to the way in which we identify 
and develop new clients, markets and the 
directions for training delivery was needed. 
The development of a Commercial Services 
Unit was identifi ed as a critical component to 
meeting this demand, as well as ensuring the 
future success of the College. 

Wheatbelt Connect was established in 2006, 
with a new location opening on the main street 
in Northam in June 2007. This central location 
has proven to be a popular central venue for 
potential students to gain information on 
courses and other information or advice they 
require.

The Wheatbelt Connect meeting room on 
Fitzgerald Street is proving to be popular to hire 
with organisations in Northam. At present the 
West Australian Police Department have held 
training sessions there and have more booked 
for 2008.

Wheatbelt Connect assisted with the 
submission and the ongoing management of the 
AWI project and now have become a preferred 
provider for this training in Western 
Australia, for the next two years.

Informati on Technology

The Information Technology department 
provides the relevant Information Technology 
(computing, voice, data and video 
communications) so that C. Y. O’Connor 
College can share information economically, 
enhance communications between College staff 
and colleagues, streamline processes to reduce 
paper fl ow and lighten staff workloads, to enrich 
and improve the teaching and learning process 
and make academic resources available from 
any place at any time.
 

70 new computers were replaced across • 
the College to stay in line with the College’s 
25% annual PC replacement strategy.
The implementation of the new Records • 
Management System (Trim Context) was 
completed via a migration to a new server.
A new VoIP phone system (almost 150 • 
new handsets across the 4 new systems) 
was deployed across all major regional 
campuses which will greatly reduce the 
costs associated with intercampus phone 
calls.
The new Wheatbelt Connect off-site offi ce • 
was fi tted out with a new copier/printer/fax, 
3 computers, phone system, video projector, 
laptop, internet access and wireless inter 
offi ce communications.
The College was removed from the DET • 
email system to give the College the full 
control and freedom to upgrade whenever it 
wishes.
The main College email system GroupWise • 
was upgraded to the latest version (version 7).
The College internet proxy server was   • 
upgraded to new hardware.



Quality and Planning

During 2007 there were no AQTF External 
Audits carried out by the Offi ce of the Training 
Accreditation Council, however work continued 
on the implementation of strategies and
initiatives relating to the introduction of the 
AQTF 2007 from July 1, 2007.

Following a review of College Quality
Management activities and resources, the 
Executive Management Team determined that 
certifi cation to ISO 9001:2000 Standard was no 
longer required by the College. The ISO 
Standards and the AQTF 2007 Essential 
Standards for RTOs have high a degree of 
overlap with the AQTF Standards moving more 
toward the ISO standard with each review. The 
ISO 9001:2000 certifi cation was discontinued 
from February 2007.

The 2007 Student Satisfaction Survey revealed 
that overall student satisfaction at the College 
remains high with 90% claiming to be either 
satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. This level of 
satisfaction is slightly higher than the state 
average and comparable to the College 
performance in 2006 of 89%.  Satisfaction 
amongst all Employment Based Students
increased from 63% in 2006 to 91% in 2007 but 
the sample sizes for both years were relatively 
small and as such the results are indicative 
only.  Students experiences with training offered 
by the College were very positive overall and 
similar to the state average.  All quality of
assessment attributes were rated very highly 
and all aspects of course experiences were 
rated highly.

In addition to the Student Satisfaction Survey 
the College also conducted Student Unit 
Evaluation Surveys which monitor feedback in 
areas of Training Delivery,  Assessment and 
College Facilities. This process obtains student 
feedback on specifi c units and is used to
improve the quality of education/training 
programs and College services. The survey is 
carried out once each semester and resulted in 
a satisfaction rating of 82% with 12% of 
students sampled responding to the survey.

Internal Audits were conducted by trained staff 
throughout the year in 22 areas of the 
College’s business and training systems as they 
relate to the AQTF 2007. A new Internal Audit 
approach was developed based on the AQTF 
2007 which included the development of a new 
Internal Audit Checklist. This approach has an 
emphasis on outcomes, including the extent to 
which the College is achieving and sustaining 
quality training, assessment and client services.

Policies Procedures and Forms continued to be 
reviewed and updated with some 235 major and 
minor changes and amendments occurring
during 2007. This included changes to support 
the transition to the use of the Department’s 
Shared Services initiative.

Customer Feedback for 2007 included a total of 
10 formal complaints concerning College 
processes including the Issue of Certifi cates, 
the Training Delivery Processes, the Enrolment 
Process and College customer facilities.

Report on Operati ons
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Records Management

The Education and Training Sector agencies 
have adopted a common Record Keeping Plan 
(RKP).  This Plan sets out strategies for 
compliance with the RKP Principles including 
measuring the effectiveness and effi ciency 
of the Record Keeping system and also 
implementation and review of training programs 
and induction processes. The following provides 
details of the key achievements against the 
following four areas:

Evaluati on – Effi  ciency and Eff ecti veness
As part of the Annual Internal Audit program for 
the College, the Records Management Section 
was reviewed in May.  All the Records 
Management documents held on the College 
Intranet were reviewed, with the College 
Records Management Procedures Manual 
being amended include recent changes 
to processes. As result of the audit, a new 
procedure was established to provide guidance 
to staff on how to prepare archive storage 
boxes.

Also, as part of the ongoing review of Records 
Management resourcing, it was determined that 
TRIM Captura was no longer to be supported 
by the software supplier and an upgrade to the 
latest version of TRIM was required. TRIM 
Context version 6 was implemented in 
February 2007 following a hardware upgrade in 
late 2006.  This new software has provided the 
College with an up to date platform for future 
development to meet ever increasing Records 
Management requirements including the 
possible addition of electronic records 
management modules.

As part of the implementation of the TRIM 
software upgrade, a new Contract for Support
was also established.

Training Program
At the time of the implementation of TRIM
Context Version 6 training was provided to 
key users with onsite training conducted by 
Sigma Data which covered the functions and 
operations of the new software.

Ongoing training is also provided by the 
Records Offi cer to key staff with key records 
management responsibilities including
academic administrative staff and executive 
management support staff. This training
included the TRIM Database and the Records 
Management Procedures that have been
established by the College. Basic training is 
also provided to Trainees in the Business
Services area to assist the students to complete 
the requirements of their training programs.

The College also implemented an Online 
Records Awareness Training Program for all 
staff which is designed to outline obligations, 
rights and responsibilities under the State 
Records Act 2000. The training ensures that all 
employees are aware of their recordkeeping 
responsibilities and that proper records are 
created and maintained as evidence of actions, 
decisions and transactions undertaken as part 
of their work. To date 45% of College staff have 
completed the training with further follow up in 
2008.
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Training Program Review

As part of the Annual Internal Audit, it was
determined that the Online Records Awareness 
Training Program be implemented as a matter 
of priority for 2007 to supplement existing 
training activities. This ensured that Record 
Keeping responsibilities were understood by 
all employees. It was also identifi ed at this time 
that more in-depth training for senior managers 
is required which is hoped to be further pursued 
in 2008.

Record Keeping Inducti on Program

The College Employee Induction Manual 
includes content outlining staff record keeping 
responsibilities and also outlines that the 
College Online Records Training Program must 
also be completed as part of their induction pro-
gram. Additional records induction information 
and support is provided by the Records Offi cer 
when new staff are appointed to key positions.

Report on Operati ons
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Secti on Two

Strategic Planning and 
Reporti ng Framework

Social Outcomes—People and Communiti es
Economic Outcomes—The Economy 

Environmental Outcomes—The Environemnt
Regional Outcomes—The Wheatbelt Region
Governence Outcomes—Good Governance

Scholarships and Awards
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People and Communiti es

C.Y. O’Connor College provides a range of 
vocational education and training products and 
services to support the growth of a diversifi ed 
regional economy and address local and state 
wide skill shortages. The College’s strategic 
objectives include developing and implementing 
learning strategies and programs which are 
recognised as being responsive to industry-
driven, client lifelong learning needs. Aligned 
to this goal to meet the diverse needs of clients 
in our community there is a particular focus 
on increasing the participation of: people from 
diverse backgrounds; industry clients; 15-19 
year olds; Indigenous groups; and people with a 
disability. 

The College works collaboratively with local 
industry and community groups, in addition to 
the Industry Advisory Groups which have been 
established to gain relevant and current advice 
on industry trends and training needs. The
College’s strategic objectives include the 
promotion of quality training by conducting 
extensive business surveys and regular 
community consultation forums in regional 
areas. These methods are used to identify
industry and community skills defi cits and
effectively align training delivery to support 
emerging industries and deploy resources 
appropriately throughout the regions. This has 
resulted in the College establishing a Rural 
Health Campus in the Wheatbelt at both
Narrogin and Northam campuses to address 
the shortage of nurses in the region. 

The College promotes and encourages a 
variety of training delivery partnerships to 

facilitate articulation arrangements and 
increase retention and employment rates. We 
have worked effectively with a range of 
industry groups and Industry Training Councils 
to maintain signifi cant levels of workplace 
delivery and assessment and subsequently the 
number of apprenticeships and traineeships. 

The College has endeavoured to improve
Indigenous participation and completion rates 
through collaborative planning with schools, 
Aboriginal Corporations and through regular 
consultation with Aboriginal Advisory 
Education Training Committees which comprise 
staff, students and community representatives. 

VET for schools students delivery has increased 
markedly throughout C.Y. O’Connor College 
through established partnerships with four
Senior and fi ve District High School in the 
Wheatbelt, and the WA Colleges of Agriculture. 
Similarly, the College has worked closely with 
the University sector to develop and support 
articulation pathways to ensure Lifelong 
Learning opportunities are available to all. 
There has been a continued focus on the 
retention of the 15 to 17 year old cohort, with 
the raising of the school leaving age, through 
the development and implementation of District 
Education and Training Plans. 

Social Outcomes
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The College has continued to increase its
research and development capacity and created 
an environment that encourages innovation and 
capitalises on the region’s
comparative advantage.

A culture of holistic fi nancial accountability has 
developed throughout the College with the aim 
of strategically managing College fi nances to 
ensure responsive growth and sustainable 
fi nancial outcomes, as well as adherence to 
the Business Plan. The College has also made 
signifi cant progress in streamlining and 
implementing more effective business and 
protocols to ensure compliance with 
Government Regulations and Legislation. 

Youth Outcomes 
During 2007 the College ran the very successful 
GATE (Gaining Access to Training and 
Employment) program at the Northam and 
Narrogin campuses for disengaged at risk 15-
17 year olds. This was part of the Midlands and 
Narrogin District Education, Training and 
Participation Plans and College staff worked 
closely with the District Offi ce Participation
Coordinators. The College again delivered Try-
a-Trade program in 2007 which introduced high 
school students to a taste of general 
construction, automotives, fabrication, welding 
and diesel mechanics. The program was run 
during the school year and provided students 
fi rst hand experience of the Trade areas. This 
assisted students with career choices. 

VET in schools 

In 2007 C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE 
undertook auspicing arrangements with 5 High 
Schools (2 District High Schools, 3 Senior High 
schools) and the School of Isolated and 
Distance Education.

A total of 50,189 SCH was auspiced in 2007 
as well as 32,820 SCH being delivered through 
Profi le.

The raising of the School Leaving Age to 16 
in 2007, saw a greater demand on the Profi le 
requirements. This demand will compound with 
the implementation of the 17 year old school 
leaving age coming into effect in 2008.

Social Outcomes
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Cultural Diversity and 
Language Services Outcomes 

CGEA
The Certifi cates in General Education for Adults 
(face to face classes) continue to effectively 
meet the education and training needs of
learners from a broad range of access and
equity groups across the Wheatbelt. A 
signifi cant achievement for 2007 was the 
profi cient customisation of the course that 
maximised learning and participation for a 
composite group of learners and furthered 
successful course and module completion. 
Included in this group are early school leavers, 
people with physical and intellectual disabilities, 
migrants from a NESB background, part-time 
employees and adults seeking to improve their 
literacy/numeracy. 

Qualitative course outcomes include learner 
empowerment through the development of a 
range of life skills that encouraged learner 
autonomy in terms of housing, budgeting and 
accessing agency support. Quantitative 
outcomes are evident in the successful 
transition to work by some learners (including 
those with disabilities) who obtained part-time 
employment in local businesses. Of equal 
importance is the articulation of some learners 
to mainstream VET and higher level certifi cates 
within the CGEA.

New Opportuniti es for Women (NOW) 
Online Pilot 2007
Seven women enrolled in the course (six 
hrough scholarships made available from an  
International Women’s Day grant). The 

following outcomes were achieved: two women 
successfully completed the whole course; a 
further three gained employment in the early 
stages and did not complete (all three hoped to 
continue but found the demands of their new 
jobs left them insuffi cient time). All of those 
who participated made very positive comments 
about the virtual classroom and the fl exibility 
providedby the web-based material. Remote 
students were particularly enthusiastic about 
having the opportunity to participate from 
home and emphasised that they would have 
been unable to attend on-campus. All students 
enjoyed the virtual classroom and became 
very adept at using both text messaging and 
whiteboard as well as microphones.

FLY Programme
In 2007, C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE 
delivered the Certifi cate in General Education 
for Adults (CGEA) courses to an exciting 
education program called Fresh Learning for 
Youth (FLY) in partnership with Directions 
Employment in the Northam area. Participants 
of this program were from a select group of 
13 to 17 year olds who needed an alternative 
to mainstream school. In addition to the 
CGEA courses which focused on English and 
Mathematics skills, participants also learned 
some trade skills, driving skills, senior fi rst aid, 
sport, cooking, computer and the internet, art, 
music, circus skills and media. All activities 
were designed to assist the young people build 
the skills they need to be successful in life.  

Social Outcomes
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The FLY program also welcomed the support 
and encouragement of parents and caregivers. 
The program attracted 18 participants enrolling 
in the CGEA coursesthroughout the semester 
with 14 of them continuing on with their courses 
in 2008.

Life style courses
Lifestyle courses are designed to encourage 
newly arrived members of the community to 
access programs which may develop their 
sense of belonging and develop social networks 
which may lead to a transition into structured
training. 

The College delivered several lifestyle courses 
such as massage, belly dancing and cooking.  
These courses were intended to attract people 
from all walks of life and from diverse cultural 
backgrounds.  It has been very successful and 
the College will continue to offer similar courses 
in 2008.

Customer Focus 

The College is dedicated to providing students 
with friendly, high quality and effi cient customer 
service at all times. Throughout 2007 many 
changes have been made to the customer
services area in order to continuously improve 
the customer service our students receive when 
visiting or contacting the College.

Some of the major achievements of the 
customer services area include:

Ensuring the qualifi cation information    • 
 stored in the College’s Products and    
 Services Catalogue (and available to   

 students via the College website) is kept   
 up to date and is an accurate refl ection   
 of the courses the College currently has   
 on offer;     
• 

Revising and updating all of the printed   • 
 College course information brochures to en  
 sure that printed qualifi cation and other  
   relevant enrolment and payment information  
 is available to students at all campuses of   
 the College;
• 

Most importantly implementing                     • 
 processes and revising student forms to   
 simplify and hasten the enrolment and   
 payment process for our students.

Customer Service Staff are trained and 
equipped with the necessary knowledge and 
documentation to ensure that they can provide 
students with the best possible service in all
areas and this area of the College is 
continuously improving and developing new 
practices to benefi t the students of the College.

Social Outcomes
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Disability  Services Plan
Outcomes 

The College’s Access and Equity Department 
is funded by the Department of Education and 
Training through the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement to address the needs of and to 
provide equitable access to people with 
disabilities.  This funding enables the College to 
provide an Access and Equity Offi cer and 
support offi cers who provide services including 
youth support, disability support and tutorial
assistance.  The Department also funds 
interpreters, specialised equipment and 
assistive technology as required.  The 
Access and Equity Section also provides 
assistance for youth at risk, people from CALD 
backgrounds, people who are indigenous 
and women in non traditional fi elds of study.

In addition, the College developed the C.Y. 
O’Connor College of TAFE Disability Access 
& Inclusion Plan (DAIP), which is measured 
against the Disability Standards for Education 
(2004), which are formulated under the
Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (DDA).
Compliance with the Standards is 
measured under the following categories;
 
1. Maintaining an inclusive culture at C.Y.   
 O’Connor College of TAFE. 
2. Adaptation of existing services to ensure   
 they meet the needs of people    
 with disabilities. 
3. Improved access to building and    
 facilities. 

4. Information about Services and 

 Programs is provided in formats
 that enhance the communication    
 needs of people with disabilities.
5. Advice and services are delivered by staff   
 who are aware of and understand the   
 needs of people with disabilities.
6. Opportunities are provided for people with   
 disabilities to participate in     
 public cosultations, grievance mechanisms   
 and decision making processes. 

The above measures were implemented in 
2007 in the DAIP Action Plan, and are reviewed 
annually and on an ongoing basis according to 
the timeline.  Specifi c Access & Equity projects, 
undertaken in conjunction with key disability 
service agencies, were also mapped against 
the outcomes of the DAIP.

They include:

• You’re Welcome 
• CYOC Learn
• Aspire

Social Outcomes
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You’re Welcome
The You’re Welcome Access Initiative was 
developed by the Disability Services 
Commission in response to a need for 
information about accessible businesses and 
community services and facilities for people 
with disabilities.  The Town of Northam and the 
Access and Equity Department partnered to
collect clear information about access to 
facilities in local communities, including 
Northam and York. A senior project offi cer 
worked with volunteers, staff and students 
(including students with a disability) to collect 
the information and liaise with local businesses.  
Staff members were trained in disability values 
and ethics prior to the commencement of the 
project.  The project offered an insight for all 
participants into access challenges faced by 
people with disabilities.

Certifi cates to participants were presented
to members of the Northam business 
community at the ‘You’re Welcome’ Access 
Initiative Project Ceremony on November 14, 
which was also attended by Shire of Northam 
staff.  The event also hosted the James Dawson 
Memorial Award, an award developed in 2006 
for students with a disability who achieved 
outstanding achievement in their studies.
Students were nominated on the basis of:
• Academic excellence
• Outstanding positive attitude 
• Outstanding work ethic
• Dedication to study
• Personal achievement
The You’re Welcome project and the James 
Dawson Memorial Award met the outcomes of 
sections 1, 3, 5, and 6 of the Disability Access 
and Inclusion Plan. 

CYOC Learn
The CYOC Learn program was developed in 
response to research by the College’s 
Department of Research and Planning and by 
clinical studies about the prevalence of 
autism spectrum disorders.  According to 
current research, one in 160 school children 
aged between 6 and 12 has an autism 
spectrum disorder.  Staff members developed 
an innovative pilot program, which was funded 
by the Australian Flexible Learning Framework, 
featuring a range of e-learning tools including 
an interactive and self-paced learning resource 
designed to demonstrate and develop skills for 
communicating in the workplace, workplace 
rights and career planning.  The trial featured a 
online game based learning format and utilized 
existing online resources for students with 
autism with outstanding results.  The program 
was successfully presented at the Australian 
Flexible Learning Framework Showcase in 
Melbourne and the WA E-Learning Experience 
in Perth.  The CYOC Learn project met the 
outcomes of sections 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan.

Social Outcomes
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Aspire
The Aspire program was funded by the 
Department of Education and Training’s 
Innovation Funding and was developed for 
people with a disability, enabling them to 
explore self employment as a life option. 

The program was developed to offer 
participants the opportunity to undertake 
business training in a specialised learning 
environment. The participants gained skills 
whilst being supported by modifi ed materials 
and a unique business development program. 

Partnering with Small Business Centres in 
Northam and Narrogin and key disability 
agencies such as the Disability Services 
Commission, the program was built around the 
diverse needs of the participants. The course 
content was primarily developed around the 
topics of small business, self evaluation of goals 
and barriers to self employment, and 
development of a business plan.  In addition, 
the Small Business Centres in Northam and 
Narrogin conducted workshops which were 

run throughout the duration of the course. 
The workshops offered business counselling, 
training and free practical business assistance 
to individuals seeking to start their own 
business. Students with disabilities that 
included intellectual and developmental, 
physical, psychological and learning disabilities 
participated successfully in the course, which 
combined blended fl exible delivery to suit the
individual’s needs. The Aspire program 
successfully met outcomes of sections 1, 2, 4, 
5 and 6 of the Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan.

Several strategies are planned for 2008, 
including a partnership and work readiness 
program with Essential Personnel (disability 
employment network) and ongoing commitment 
to addressing the Disability Action and Inclusion 
Plan in a fl exible and responsive manner.  
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE is committed 
to meeting the needs of every student, and 
is dedicated to ensuring that people with a 
disability have access to a variety of learning 
opportunities.  

Social Outcomes
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Economic Outcomes
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C.Y. O’Connor College provides a range of 
vocational education and training products and 
services to support the growth of a diversifi ed 
regional economy and address local and state 
wide skill shortages.
A strong labour demand throughout the 
State, including the Wheatbelt has seen 
apprenticeship and traineeship numbers at the 
College increase by over 20% in 2007. 

In December 2007, the State unemployment 
rate fell to 3.1%, the lowest of all States and 
well below the national rate of 4.3%.  The result 
of these shifts for the College has been that 
demand for some courses has decreased; 
whist demand in the resource- related areas 
has maintained growth. Issues in attracting 
lecturing staff in high demand areas are being 
addressed, and the College is working closely 
with schools to reinforce the desirability of 
further study in an environment where highly 
paid employment is possible with few or no 
qualifi cations. Vocational Education and 
Training in Schools has increased to 16% of the 
total College profi le delivery.

Outlook
The Government’s mid year budget review, 
released in December 2007, predicts further 
strong economic growth for Western Australia in 
the short and medium term.  GSP is expected 
to strengthen to 7.0% in 2007-08, followed 
by moderation to 4.5% in 2008-09, 2009-
10 and 2010-11.  This outlook is based on 
stronger household consumption and business 
investment in the short term and improved 
export growth in the medium term future.

In 2007-08, employment is predicted to grow 
by 3.5%, lowering to 2.75% in 2008-09 and 
2.5% in both 2009-10 and 2010-11.  The State’s 
unemployment rate is forecast to average 3.5% 
in 2007-08, declining to 3.25% in 2008-09 
and then rising to 4.25% in both 2009-10 and     
2010-11.

The Economy

Classrooms, Merredin Campus



Economic Outcomes
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Jennifer Marshall, Finance Offi cer hard at work

Looking State-wide at the industry sectors, 
the strongest employment growth during 
2007 was recorded in property and business 
services (8,600 new jobs or 6.7%), health 
and community services (8,500 or 8.2%), 
education (7,100 or 10.1%), transport and 
storage (4,700 or 11.0%), construction (3,300 
or 3.0%) and fi nance and insurance (2,400 
or 8.4%).  In contrast, employment declined 
in agriculture, forestry and fi shing (3,900 jobs 
or -8.1%), wholesale trade (900 or -1.8%), 
personal and other services (500 or -1.1%), and 
manufacturing (500 or -0.5%). 

The College is customising it’s course delivery 
to take into account the changes in the 
Wheatbelt, and addressing issues such as local 
specifi c skills shortages.

* Source - Dept Education and Training Labour 
and Economic Brief.



The Environment Sustainability

The College Sustainability Action Plan 
continues to be implemented. These include:

•  The College’s  development of a 
 Sustainability Charter.
•  Ongoing application of the Buying wisely
 policies including the Buy Local Policy,
    Priority Access Policy, Building Local         
 IndustryPolicy.
•  Waste Management—Success is 
 ongoing with Recycle bins having been
 located in main buildings for recycling      
    shredded paper. Campus gardening    
 maintenance practices now include the   
 mulching and reuse of tree prunings and   
 other garden waste.
•  Energy Consumption—An Energy Audit
 was carried out in 2006 which resulted in   
 the successful application for a grant    
 from SEDO.

 The grant was used to implement energy
 saving alterations to lighting and power
 usage to address the Audit     
 recommendations. All gas heating units
 have had timers installed to ensure
 energy waste is minimised.
•  Water Conservation—A Commonwealth
 Government water conservation and
 management grant was received for the
 establishment of a Rain Water Tank and
 moisture sensors at Northam Campus.   
 All campus reticulation systems are set
  on timers and gardens are mulched 
 when required.
•  Motor Vehicles—The College vehicle    
 fl eet has been down-sized to 4 cylinder   
 petrol vehicles and the effi cient 
 management of vehicles use is coordinated   
 thorough a central car booking process   
 where group car bookings are made when   
 possible.

Environmental Outcomes
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Energy Smart Government Policy

Throughout the year the College continued
to implement and foster a culture of energy
thriftiness.

For the 2006/2007 year, the College achieved 
its best year on record for the reduction in
the consumption of energy. A number of factors
impacted upon the College’s ability to meet this
year’s target. This included:

• An increase in student numbers from    
 the baseline year.
•  A shift in delivery patterns to more
 energy intensive courses in the Trades   
 area.
•  The fi lling of a signifi cantly large LPG    
 tank at the end of the reporting period.
•  Greater usage of heating and cooling    
 systems throughout the year.

To ensure that the College is well placed to 
meet future target requirements an Energy 
Audit was conducted by Norman, Disney and 
Young during the previous reporting period. 

With the assistance of SEDO grant funding for 
the introduction of energy saving technologies, 
the following actions have been undertaken and 
the benefi ts have been realized in the current 
reporting period. This includes:

•  Lighting savings resulting from the
 introduction of high effi ciency luminaries;   
 power savers added to the lighting
 systems; light sensors; and lighting
 timers.
•  The installation of timers on heating and   
 hot water systems.
•  Better usage of temperature controlled
 environments.
•  Gas savings through the introduction of
 solar hot water heaters and timed gas   
 space heaters.
•  And the continuation and expansion of   
     the College’s good housing keeping    
 practices in relation to energy 
 conservation.

This should ensure that C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE is well placed to meet future targets.

Environmental Outcomes
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Baseline 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 Savings
2003/04

Savings
2004/05

Savings
2005/06

Savings
2006/07

Stati onary 
Energy 
Consumpti on 
(GJ)

1835 1798 1702 1727 1551 2% 7.2% 5.6% 15.5%

Energy Cost ($) 
Stati onary
Energy Costs ($)

75,333 70,660 67,297 62,282 64,155 4,667 8,036 13,051 11,178

Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions 
(tonnes of CO2)

416 402 371 347 329 14 45 69 87



The Wheatbelt Region 
C.Y. O’Connor College is committed to 
meeting the education and training needs of 
the rural and remote communities we service in 
the Wheatbelt. The College is comprised of four 
regional Campuses, located in Northam, 
Merredin, Moora and Narrogin. Additional TAFE 
centres operate in Kellerberrin, Pingelly, 
Kondinin, Quairading, Jurien Bay and Bindoon. 
With an area of 154,000 square kilometres 
encompassing 43 shires, and a population of 
72,000, the Wheatbelt region is one of Western 
Australia’s most sparsely distributed regions. 
The College operates in an environment of very 
thin markets with traditionally the lowest training
participation rates of TAFEWA.

Our determination to take a leadership role in 
the economic, social and sustainable 
environmental development of the Wheatbelt 
is refl ected in the College Mission Statement, 
which aims to promote a stronger regional 
economy by developing partnerships with 
local business and community groups to identify 
training needs and skills shortages and 
enhance the region’s skills base. 

Underpinning this achievement is a set of core 
values, which refl ect the College’s commitment 
to consistently high standards of customer 
service. Also, endeavouring at all times to 
ensure equitable access to services and 
facilities for clients and staff regardless of age, 
gender, ethnicity, disability or location. The 
College promotes a culture which encourages 
initiative, innovation and active participation in 
the development and implementation of
more streamlined processes and improved
training services.

Lifelong learning opportunities have been 
established in the region through identifi cation 
of multiple learning pathways and improved 
choices in education,training and work. 
Increased use of Information Communications 
and Technology has provided better services 
and greater accessibility for the broader 
community. The Youth Advantage Strategy has 
seen the implementation of several programs 
supporting “youth at risk”, in particular, 
disengaged 15–19 year old youth. The trial of 
the Careers on Track in Narrogin provided 
support to this cohort through career advice and 
individual training plans. 

Improved Indigenous participation, completion 
rates and employment outcomes, especially at 
Certifi cate III and above, have been a priority 
for the College and a number of strategies have 
been implemented. The College employs
Aboriginal Program Assistants, Development
Offi cers and lecturers to mentor and support 
Indigenous students and provide positive role 
modelling. Successful Aboriginal School-Based 
Trainee programs were conducted throughout 
the region with positive outcomes. These 
initiatives have achieved increased student 
self-esteem and confi dence and created 
positive engagement, along with basic skills 
development for entry into the workplace.

Regional Outcomes
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The College has also made a concerted effort in 
2007 to support employers of trainees and 
apprentices to understand the benefi ts and 
obligations of workplace training. This enhanced 
relationship has seen markedly improved 
student satisfaction rates for clients in 
Enterprise Based Training for employee/
employer relationships and learning the skills 
required to perform the job as well as an overall 
increase in student satisfaction from 85% in 
2006 to 86% in 2007.

The result of these strategies is a College 
attuned and responsive to its rural and remote 
communities, conscious of the responsibility it 
has in being the only public provider servicing 
the entire region, respected for its local
knowledge and expertise and recognised for 
its broad accessibility through fl exible delivery 
options.
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Good Governance 

Report on Governing Council
The College is a statutory authority which is 
largely fi nanced from public funds and is 
accountable to the State Parliament through the 
Minister for Education and Training. The 
College is a public sector agency in its own 
right, which means it must comply with 
legislation covering a range of matters including 
fi nancial administration, staffi ng, occupational 
health, safety and welfare, equal opportunity, 
freedom of information and codes of conduct. 

The Council, as the Governing body of the 
College, acts on behalf of the community in 
organising and managing the resources 
allocated to the College for the provision of
vocational and further education. The Council 
is a ‘body corporate’ with the power to do all 
that is necessary to fulfi l its functions under the 
Vocational Education and Training Act (1996). It 
is a self-governing statutory authority.

The functions of the council include the 
following:

1.  To prepare a College Training Profi le    
 for the approval of the Minister, as    
 and when required by the Minister.
2.  To approve the Strategic and 
 Operational Management Plans for    
 the College.
3.  To oversee the implementation of the    
 College Strategic and Operational    
 Management Plans.
4.  To monitor the College’s performance   
 and initiate improvements where 
 necessary.

5.  To ensure the College’s programs    
 and services are responsive to and    
 meet the needs of industry, students    
 and the community.
6.  To ensure that conditions of contracts   
 and agreements entered into on
 behalf of the College are met.
 Including the Delivery and 
 Performance Agreement, contracts    
 of employment, audited statements    
 of accounts and commercial contracts   
 and arrangements.

Accountable Offi  cers Report
The Accountable Offi cer for C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE is Mr Peter Mahler the 
Managing Director, of C.Y. O’Connor College of 
TAFE.

Governance Outcomes
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State Legislation

• Australian Crime Commission     
 (Western Australia) Act 2004
• Corporations (WA) Act (1990)
• Criminal Code
• Disability Services Act (1993)
• Education Service Providers (Full fee overseas 
 students) Registration Act (1991)
• Electoral Act (1907)
• Electronic Transactions Act (2003)
• Equal Opportunity Act (1984)
• Evidence Act (1906)
• Fair Trading Act (1987)
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Freedom of Information Act (1992)
• Government Financial Responsibility  Act (2000)
• Industrial Relations Act (1979)
• Industrial Training Act (1975)
• Interpretation Act (1984)
• Labour Relations Reform Act (2002)
• Library Board of WA  Act (1951)
• Limitation Act (2005)
• Minimum Conditions of Employment  Act (1993)
• Occupational Health, Safety and 
 Welfare Act (1984)
• Occupiers Liability Act (1985)
• Parliamentary Commissioner Act (1971)
• Public and Bank Holidays Act (1972)
• Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003)
• Public Sector Management Act (1994)
• Salaries and Allowances Act (1975)
• School Education Act (1999)
• State Records Act (2000)
• State Superannuation Act (2000)
• State Supply Commission Act (1991)
• Vocational Education and Training Act (1996)
• Workers Compensation (Common Law    
 Proceedings) Act 2004
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management (Acts  
 of Terrorism) Act 2001
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act   
 1981

 

Federal Legislation

• A New Tax System (Goods and 
 Services Tax Act) 1999
• Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Act 2005
• Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Commission   
 Amendment Act 2005
• Age Discrimination Act (2004)
• Archives Act (1983)
• Copyright Act (1968)
• Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 2000
• Cybercrime Act (2001)
• Disability Discrimination Act (1992)
• Freedom of Information Act (1982)
• Fringe Benefi ts Tax Act (1986)
• Human Rights and Equal Opportunity    
 Commission Act (1986)
• Income Tax Act (1986)
• Indigenous Education (Targeted
 Assistance) Act (2000)
• Industrial Relations Act
• Privacy Act (1988) 
• Racial Discrimination Act (1975)
• Sex Discrimination Act (1984)
• Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005
• State Grants (Technical & Training Fees    
 Reimbursement Act (1974)
• Superannuation Guarantee 
 (Administration) Act (1992)
• Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act (1992)
• Trade Practices Act (1974)
• Workplace Relations Act (1996)
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Enabling Legislati on
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE was established as an autonomous institution, in accordance with section 
35 of the Vocational Education and Training Act (1996), effective from 1 January 2001.

Legislati on impacti ng on the College:



Equal Opportunity Employment Outcomes
The College is committed to being an equal 
employment opportunity employer and has
continued to develop policies and educate
staff to refl ect this.  

This year the College continued to monitor the 
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Equity and 
Diversity Plan 2003–2005. This demonstrates 
the College’s commitment to its responsibilities 
under Section IX of the Equal Opportunity Act 
(1984).  The plan provides the College’s Equity 
and Diversity objectives and strategies for their 
achievement.

Throughout the year training was undertaken 
for staff on chairing and participating on 
selection panels, and cultural awareness. 

Evaluati on of Programs
The Vocational Education and Training Act 
(1996) requires the College to provide 
Vocational Education and Training consistent 
with the College Training Profi le. The College 
is therefore required to meet the Profi le and 
other requirements as specifi ed in the Delivery 
and Performance Agreement entered into 
with the Western Australian Department of 
Education and Training.

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has continued 
to survey its clients through a number of 
mechanisms such as the Student Unit 
Evaluation Program. This survey is aimed at 
obtaining direct feedback from customers.

Trade Practi ces Act
There were no reported breaches of the Trade 
Practices Act during 2007.

Freedom of Informati on
Members of the public seeking access to 
documents under the Freedom of Information
(FOI) Act (1992) are invited to contact:
The Freedom of Information Co-ordinator
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
PO Box 498 Northam WA 6401
Phone: (08) 9622 6777 Fax: (08) 9622 6890

C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE received no 
applications under the FOI act in 2007.

Interests in Contracts
No members of the Governing Council or
Senior Offi cers of the College have any 
interest in any contract or proposed contract 
with the College.

Public Interest Disclosure
The Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003) 
came into effect on 1 July 2003, requiring the 
College to:
• Facilitate the disclosure of public   
 interest information;
• Provide protection for those who   
 make disclosures;
• Provide protection for those who are   
 the subject of a disclosure.

College Policy COD08:
Public Interest Disclosure.  
This policy details internal procedures 
relating to the College’s obligations under the 
Act, and the protection for persons who make 
disclosures under the Act. This Public Interest 
disclosure function is delegated to the offi ce of 
the Director of Research and Planning. No 
Public Interest Disclosure requests were 
reported during 2007.

Governance Outcomes
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Public Sector Standards 

Report on Compliance
For the Period

1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007
As Required by Section 31(1) of the Public

Sector Management Act (1994)

To the best of my knowledge, C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has complied with the 
Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management for:

• Recruitment, Selection and 
 Appointment
• Transfer
• Secondment
• Performance Management
• Redeployment
• Termination
• Discipline
• Temporary Deployment (Acting)
• Grievance Resolution

as well as with the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the College Code of Conduct.

Procedures are in place to ensure compliance and appropriate internal assessments have been conducted 
to meet legislative requirements.

For the year 2007, there were no breaches against any of the Standards. 

Peter Mahler
Managing Director
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
Need Date here



Adverti sing and Sponsorship

In accordance with Section 175ZE of the
Electoral Act 1907, the following is a statement 
of all expenditure incurred by C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE during 2007 in relation to 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail 
and media advertising organisations:

Advertising Agencies  nil
Market research organisations nil
Polling organisations  nil
Direct mail organisations  nil

Media Adverti sing Organisati ons 
Marketforce Productions          $22,177.40
Media Decisions            $49,490.80
Rural Press    $3,476.97
Other publications   $7,326.35  
    Total $82,471.52  
       (GST exclusive)
Publicati ons
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE publishes the 
following items which are available free of
charge from the College.
Academic
• Fees & Charges Brochure
• Course Outlines (Online: Products &    
 Services Catalogue)
• Refund Policy Brochure
Marketing & Community Relations
• 2007 Student Diary
• Website
• Four master course brochures semester   
 one (one per region)
• Four master course brochures 
 semester two (one per region)
• Green and Blue (student newsletter,    
 February, June and November)
• The Inside Edge staff newsletter (May, 
 August and December)

• Various subject brochures (DL)
• Annual Report 2006

Risk Management
The College has successfully embedded risk 
management principles into management 
decision making and has established a risk 
management framework to ensure compliance 
with Treasury Instruction 825 and consistent 
with the Australian Standard 4360:1999.

A Risk Management Planning Day is held 
regularly for all managers within the College.  
During the year modifi cations were carried out 
to the risk management data base.

Pricing Policy
Fees and charges levied by the College were in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
following;
• Vocational Education and Training    
 Act (1996).
• Vocational Education and Training    
 Regulations 1996.
• 2005 Policy Guidelines for Publicly    
 Funded VET Providers and 
 Programs for Fees and Charges
 issued by the Department of
 Education and Training.

Occupati onal Safety and Health 
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE complies 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
(1984). The College has a comprehensive 
program for monitoring, skills development, 
staff participation and reporting to ensure 
requirements of the Occupational Safety 
and Health Act (1984) are met. Occupational 
Health and Safety committee meetings were 
held every six weeks throughout 2007. Five 
committee members attended OS&H refresher 
training.
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Staffi  ng
The average College staffi ng level for the Year 
2007 was 130.27 FTE.

General Agreement
People = 92
FTE = 68.42

Lecturer’s Certifi ed Agreement
People = 88
FTE = 68.40

Professional & Career Development
During 2007, the equivalent of 161 staff 
participated in a total of 74 different PACD 
activities.  A number of whole of College and 
area specifi c PACD activities were held during 
the year. These included:
• Whole of College Induction day
• Cultural Awareness Training
• Effective Staff Selection Skills
• OS&H Representatives Refresher Training
• Basic and Senior First Aid Training
 Customer Services Training for Frontline   
 Staff
• Professional Executive Secretary Training

Recruitment
The College continued to advertise as widely as 
possible to attract the best candidates for all 
positions.  For the year a total of 58 positions 
were advertised.

Acti ng Opportuniti es
The College demonstrated an ongoing 
commitment to investing in its staff by providing 
acting opportunities.  For the year 2007 there 
were 12 acting opportunities.

Corrupti on Preventi on
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE has undertaken 
reviews of relevant policies with respect to the 
issue of corruption and misconduct, with 
attention being paid to the issues of 
unauthorised access and disclosure of 
confi dential information.

College Policy ITD04: IT Security embodies the 
delegated responsibility for managing 
compliance with privacy requirements and 
computer security within the role of the 
Manager Information Technology.

College Policy COD20: Confi dentiality Policy 
delegates the responsibility for managing and 
securing the confi dentiality of student records to 
the Director of Research and Planning.

College Policy HRD06: Employee Code of 
Conduct incorporates advice to staff on 
appropriate process to be followed to protect 
confi dential information.

College Policy HRD06: Employee Code of 
Conduct specifi es the process to be followed 
with respect to the acceptance of gifts and 
hospitality in accordance with TI 407. The
College has also developed a register of gifts 
and benefi ts for the disclosure of gifts or 
benefi ts in excess of $50.00 in monetary value.

In addition to the policies and procedures 
established above, the College will further 
develop the processes with respect to the 
Premier’sCircular on Corruption prevention,
with the Department of Education and Training’s 
internal audit section.
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Staff 

Round One fi nalist in the Premier’s Teacher of 
the Year Awards:
Steve Madson, Agriculture Lecturer

Round Two fi nalist of the Premier’s Teacher of 
the Year Awards:
Penny Jaworski, Child Care Lecturer

City of Perth 100 Local Champion:
Steve Paxman, Furniture Production Lecturer

2007 Youth Awards fi nalist, Individual
Citizenship Category:
Jodie Syson

Staff Excellence Awards, Semester 1 2007:
Narrogin Campus Administration Team 
(Zita Kellow, Alicia Vagg, Walter Grebert and Flo 
Bertuola.)
Nerrilyn Agius, Aged Care Lecturer
Tiffany Maddox, Customer Service Manager
Sue Manning, Community Relations/Marketing
Jennifer Marshall, Community Relations/Marketing
Brendon O’Driscoll, IT Manager.

Graduation
Managing Director’s Award—Academic
Stephen Madson
Managing Director’s Award—Administration
Michelle Pratt
Governing Council Award
Zita Kellow, Alicia Vagg, Walter Grebert and Flo 
Bertuola.

Students

Award Winners Student Graduation Celebration
Student of the Year:
Wendy Bell
Indigenous Student of the Year:
Robert Lee
Apprentice of the Year:
Anthony Joss
Trainee of the Year: Belinda Jenkins
BSS Student of the Year: 
Melanie Curtis and Karen Stein
PILE Student of the Year: Cairn Green
Trades Student of the Year: 
Anthony Joss and Belinda Jenkins
IT Student of the Year: Cara Hall
Southern Region Student of the Year: Wendy Bell

James Dawson Memorial Award:
Samantha Amiss
James Dawson Award Nominations:
Samantha Amiss, Ann-Marie Konkoly, 
Daniel Brooks, Kelly Mauchline, Sharna Wedding, 
Craig Clarke, Rebecca Hadlow, Larissa Anderson 
and Pim Nouwland.

Scholarships and Awards
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Secti on Three

Key Performance Indicators and 
Financial Statements
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Report on Outcomes
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Outcomes, Outputs and Organisati onal Performance Informati on
(Eff ecti veness)
Outcome
The provision of vocational education and training services to meet community and industry 
training needs. 
Outputs
Organisational Performance Information

Quality (Effectiveness)

  Measure 2007 Target 2007 Actual 2006 Target 2006 Actual 2005 Target 2005 Actual

Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) 600 145 607 213 646 405 563 667 589 000 602 451
Profi le 500 145 504 754 546 405 496 214 523 000 496 313
Non-Profi le 100 000 102 459 100 000 67 453 75 000 79 451
Access and Participation 41, 480 39 166 58 905 51 175 56 700 52 620 

Quality (Effectiveness)

  Measure 2007 Target 2007 Actual 2006 Target 2006 Actual 2005 Target 2005 Actual

Student satisfaction % 85% 90.2% 85% 89% 85% 85%
Graduate satisfaction % 86% 91.4% N/A N/A 86% 88%
Graduate employment % 80% 83.8% N/A N/A 80% 83%
Module Load Completion Rate 65% 77.4% 65% 72% 65% 63%

Timeliness (Effectiveness)
  
  Measure 2007 Target 2007 Actual 2006 Target 2006 Actual 2005 Target 2005 Actual

College Delivery and 
Performance Agreement 
Received December December December December December December

Costs (Effi ciency)

  Measure 2007 Target 2007 Actual 2006 Target 2006 Actual 2005 Target 2005 Actual

Cost per SCH for Aggregrate
College Delivery $21.57 $21.44 $19.60 $23.44 $19.00 $19.10

Targets determined by Excecutive in consultation with Academic Managers and Directors.



Access and Parti cipati on SCH
Delivery Levels

Access and Participation courses provide 
general education and employment preparation 
for special needs groups. Courses are designed 
to meet the specifi c needs of Indigenous
people, women, Australians of culturally and 
linguistically diverse backgrounds and other 
special needs groups.

Notes:
The information for Access and Equity is based on 
SCH delivery and measures the extent to which the 
college is meeting the skills and training
requirements of special needs groups. The 
measure is calculated using profi le SCH in stream 
2000 courses, plus non-stream 2000 courses 
designed for targeted special needs groups (from 
the College Management Information 
System) and is expressed as a percentage of
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s profi le SCH 
delivery.

Explanati on:
The percentage of Access and Participation
SCH achieved is slightly below the target. C.Y.
O’Connor College of TAFE remains committed to 
meeting the requirements of special needs groups in 
the Wheatbelt community.

Percentage of Non-Profi led 
Acti vity against Total College SCH

This indicator reveals the amount of College
delivery which is undertaken to meet the 
training needs of industry, community and 
individuals that is additional to the College 
profi le and conducted under commercial 
arrangements.

Notes:
This Performance Indicator was based on data 
from the College’s Management Information 
System (CMIS). It shows the percentage of non-
profi le SCH achieved compared to the Total 
College SCH. Non-profi le delivery is that which is 
funded by means other than through the 
Delivery and Performance agreement between 
C.Y. O’Connor College and the WA Department of 
Training.

Explanati on:
The percentage of non-profi le activity is 
moderately below the target set, there has been a 
continued focus on the development of fee for 
service and other commercial activity.
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 We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
 relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s
 performance and fairly represent the performance of C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE for the  
 period 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2007. 

 Peter Mahler      Steven Pollard
 Managing Director     Acting Chair, Governing Council 
 C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE   C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
  

 Date: 18 February 2008
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Key Performance Indicators

C Y O’Connor College of TAFE has developed Key Performance Indicators which enable the 
College and its stakeholders to assess and monitor the achievement of its operations and to 
enhance public accountability for performance. 

The indicators report on both profi le an non profi le training delivery under continuous review to 
improve defi nitions, remove ambiguity and to ensure that changing customer expectations, 
technology and the quality of the provision of Vocational /Education and Training are taken into 
account. They relate to the organisation’s strategic priorities and outcomes. 

Desired Outcome

The provision of vocational education and training services to meet community and industry 
training needs. 

Eff ecti veness Indicators

The Effectiveness Indicators measure:
• Graduate Satisfaction
• Student Satisfaction
• Graduate Employment Status
• College Training Profi le

The National Centre for Vocational Education Research conducts surveys with an appropriate 
sample design to produce statistically reliable College level data in alternative years commencing 
from 2005.

Student Sati sfacti on Survey

The 2007 Student Satisfaction Survey was conducted by Colmar Brunton Intelligence for the 
Department of Education and Training and TAFEWA Colleges. The survey results are used by the 
College to formulate policy and enact changes aimed at improving the quality and relevance of 
the courses offered. In addition, the research is used to identify priorities for enhancing the quality 
of teaching, learning and assessment and to identify priorities for facilities development, aimed at 
improving student satisfaction with their college experience. This enables C.Y. O’Connor College 
of TAFE to focus resources on a needs basis to maximise the quality of the learning experience. 
All students who had undertaken a course of study in 2007 were eligible to take part in the survey. 
Potential respondents were invited to respond to the receipt of a mail based survey, followed by a 
secondary dispatch to target groups who exhibited lower response rates.
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These responses were augmented by an on-line version and targeted telephone based follow 
up. All students had the opportunity to take part in the survey, even if they were not sent a paper-
based survey. Response rates and sample error calculations for C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE 
are outlined as follows.
Response Rates
Populati on  Individuals  Sample Student Response  Standard Error
1,505   1,060   231  21.8%    2.0%

Eff ecti veness Indicator
The Student Satisfaction Rating measures the effectiveness of the College in meeting the training
needs of students of Wheatbelt community.

Explanati on
Overall student satisfaction at C.Y. O’Connor TAFE remains high with 90% claiming to be either 
satisfi ed or very satisfi ed. This level of satisfaction is slightly higher than the state average and 
comparable to the C.Y. O’Connor TAFE score from 2006 (89%). Satisfaction is high across all 
segments. EBS Trainees (82%) reported the lowest satisfaction of all the segments though this is 
based on a small sample size and is an indicative result. Satisfaction amongst all EBS students 
did increase from 62% in 2006 to 91% in 2007 but, again, the sample sizes for both years were 
relatively small and as such the results are indicative only.

TAFE WA Student Sati sfacti on Survey
In total,7,040 TAFE WA students completed the survey: 3,776 students completed the survey via 
mail, 2,792 students completed it online and 472 students via CATI.

This Performance Indicator was calculated using the collective responses refl ecting how satisfi ed
students were with their course at the College. The level of student satisfaction refl ects the extent 
to which the VET services provided by the College are meeting community and industry training 
needs. 
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Graduate Sati sfacti on

Eff ecti veness Indicator
Graduate Satisfaction is a Performance
Indicator that measures the extent to which
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE graduates 
believe that they had partly or fully achieved 
their main reason for undertaking the course 
and this is compared to the State and National 
averages. The level of Graduate Satisfaction 
refl ects the extent to which the VET services 
provided by the College are meetings
community and industry training needs.

Notes
The published percentages in this report are
calculated on the basis of the number of “valid”
responses to each question. The “valid”
responses comprise the total number of survey 
respondents less the number of respondents 
who did not answer the particular question of 
reference. The method used to calculate the 
percentages is the number of graduates who 
achieved or partly achieved their main reason 
for doing the course compared to the number of 
valid responses, expressed as a percentage.

Graduate Employment Status 

Eff ecti veness Indicator
The level of Graduate Employment refl ects
the extent to which the VET training programs
provided by the College are meeting community
and industry training needs. A key objective 
of the College is to provide graduates with 
the relevant skills to enter the workforce and/
or re-train for employment while also meeting 
industry needs.

Graduate Employment Status

83% 80% 84% 83% 80%

3% 8% 4% 6% 10%

14% 12% 12% 11% 10%

70%
75%
80%
85%
90%
95%

100%

20
05

 C
YOC

20
06

 S
ta

te

20
07

CYOC

20
07

 S
ta

te

20
07

 N
at

ion
al

Not in
Labour
Force
Unemployed

Employed

Response Rates

Total number of Responses: 386

Estimated total number of students: 1570

Estimated student response: 24.59%

Graduate Satisfaction
88.0% 86.0% 91.4% 87.4% 89.1%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2005
CYOC

2006 State 2007
CYOC

2007 State 2007
National

Satisfaction
Rate



C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2007 Page 58

Key Performance Indicators Report

Achievement of College Profi le

Eff ecti veness Indicator
Measure A: Percentage of achieved SCH
against profi le delivery.
This information shows the percentage of SCH
achieved for profi le funded activities as 
contracted with the Department of Education 
and Training for Vocational Education and 
Training through the Delivery and Performance 
Agreement. The percentage of Profi le achieved 
refl ects the measure of the College’s ability 
to provide VET services to satisfy the training 
needs of community and industry groups within 
the context of the State Training Profi le 
parameters.

Notes
The 2007 Planned data was obtained from the 
2007 Delivery and Performance Agreement. 
The Actual 2007 SCH is the total profi le SCH 
from the College Management Information 
System (CMIS). The achieved profi le delivery is 
derived from actual SCH as a percentage of the 
total planned delivery. Achievement of the 
College profi le is a measure of C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE’s ability to meet the total 
number of planned SCH as agreed with the WA 
Department of Education and Training.

Explanati on
In 2007, the College delivered 100.92% of its 
planned Profi le delivery. The College planned to 
deliver 500 145 SCH and actually delivered 
504 754 Student Curriculum Hours.

Measure B: Percentage of achieved SCH
against profi led SCH by WADT Groups
Profi le delivery is training which the WA
Department of Education and Training
purchases from C.Y. O’Connor College of 
TAFE under the terms of the Delivery and 
Performance Agreement. C.Y. O’Connor 
College of TAFE aims to provide training that 
meets the needs of community and industry.
The Department of Education and Training
administers the State Training Profi le
under specifi c industry groups which are 
aligned to industry and community employment 
needs.

Achievement of College Profile
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Cost per Student Curriculum Hour 
(SCH)

Effi  ciency Indicator
The effi ciency indicator measures the overall 
cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH) for 
total College delivery.

Notes
The Cost per SCH Performance Indicator is a
measure of C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE’s
effi ciency and is averaged across all programs 
and is inclusive of all funding. This measure is 
derived by dividing the Total Operating
Expenses, measured on an accrual basis,
by the total Student Curriculum Hours
delivered. The data comes from the fi nancial 
statement.

Explanati on
The overall Cost per Student Curriculum Hour
for 2007 is $21.44 This is less than last year’s 
fi gure of $23.44

Key Performance Indicators Report

Cost per SCH

$19.10

$23.44
$21.57 $21.44

$0.00

$5.00

$10.00

$15.00

$20.00

$25.00

2005 2006 2007
Target

2007

Cost per
SCH



C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE Annual Report 2007 Page 60

Key Performance Indicators Report

2007 2006

Notes
The 2007 Planned SCH data was obtained 
from the Delivery and Performance Agreement 
(DPA) with the WA Department of Education and 
Training. Actual SCH are obtained from the College 
Management Information System (CMIS). The 
profi le achievement percentage was calculated by 
dividing the achieved SCH by the planned SCH and 
expressed as a percentage.

WADT Group WADT Group Descripti on   Planned  Claimable        Actual % Planned Claimable    Actual %

01A Recreation Sports and Entertainment  34 790 32 244 92.68% 13 000 26 964 207.41%
01B Visual and Performing Arts  23 385 22 768 97.36% 35 900 24 035 66.94%
02A Automotive  24 364 30 785 126.35% 34 100 27 353 80.21%
03A Building and Construction  26 254 25 158 95.83% 13 500 16 914 125.28%
03B Survey and Building  10 270 7 150 69.62% 3 000 8 430 281%
04A Community Service Workers  32 740 36 359 111.05% 53 638 60 136 112.11%
04B Education and Childcare  52 800 50 177 95.03% 62 757 60 762 96.82%
04C Health  15 000 11 910 79.40% 6 000 0 0%
05A Finance Insurance Property Service Workers  520 605 116.35%  - -
07A Clothing Footwear and Soft Furnishings  3 055 2 565 83.96% 2 000 365 18.25%
07B Furniture Manufacture  5 700 5 392 94.60% 8 000 8 170 102.12%
09B Metal and Mining  23 850 22 083 92.59% 28 000 21 008 75.02%
10B Forestry Farming and Landcare  66 532 77 801 116.94% 60 500 58 357 96.45%
10D Horticulture  12 288 13 991 113.86% 12 000 7 079 58.99%
12B Retail  10 500 10 443 99.46% 9 615 6 590 68.53%
13A Cooking  1 000 1 826 182.60% 8 795 5 815 66.11%
13B Hospitality  1 450 1 882 129.79% 3 795 1 962 51.69%
13C Tourism  4 400 4 255 96.70% 6 000 2 848 47.46%
14A Transport Trades Storage and Associated  5 880 5 604 95.31% 2 500 320 12.8%
16A Accounting and other Business Services  13 350 12 175 91.20% 10 900 9 595 88.02%
16B Management  11 900 13 740 115.46% 16 500 14 720 89.21%
16C Offi ce and Clerical  66 040 66 135 100.14% 36 100 34 775 96.32%
17A Computing  11 847 10 992 92.78% 59 900 48 797 81.46%
18A Science and Technical Workers  750 744 99.20% - 44 -
19B Adult Literacy_ELS  35 080 31 070 88.57% 37 800 30 815 81.52%
19E Targeted Access and Participation Courses  6 400 6 900 107.81% 21 105 20 360 96.47%
 
Total  500 145 504 754 100.92%  546 405 496 214 90.81%



The accompanying fi nancial statements for C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the fi nancial transactions for the 
year ending 31 December 2007 and the fi nancial position as at 31 December 2007.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate. 

David Rampono     Steven Pollard
Principal Accounting Offi cer   Acting Chair, Governing Council
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE   C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE

Peter Maher
Managing Director
C.Y. O’Connor College of TAFE
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
C Y O’CONNOR COLLEGE OF TAFE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 
 
I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
of C Y O’Connor College of TAFE. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007, and the 
Income Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement for the year 
then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes. 
 
The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency. 
 
Governing Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key 
Performance Indicators 
The Governing Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and 
complying with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law. 
 
Summary of my Role 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This 
was done by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence 
I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further 
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer 
"http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement.pdf". 
 
An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements 
and key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises 
that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit 
procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the 
decisions of users of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 
 



 

C Y O’Connor College of TAFE 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 31 December 2007 
 
 
Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the 
financial position of C Y O’Connor College of TAFE at 31 December 2007 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions;  

(ii) the controls exercised by the College provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions; and 

(iii) the key performance indicators of the College are relevant and appropriate to help 
users assess the College’s performance and fairly represent the indicated 
performance for the year ended 31 December 2007. 

 
GLEN CLARKE 
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL 
14 March 2008 
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11/03/2008

11/03/2008

11/03/2008

Dated

Dated

Dated

Chief Finance Officer 

(Member of Governing Council)
Managing Director

Chairman of Governing Council

The accompanying financial statements of C.Y. O'Connor College of TAFE have been prepared in
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to
present fairly the financial transactions for the year ending 31 December 2007 and the financial position as
at 31 December 2007.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in

the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
C.Y. O'CONNOR COLLEGE OF TAFE



INCOME STATEMENT 2007 2006
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Notes $ $
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 7 7,985,724                         7,515,673                         
Supplies and services 8 3,244,564                         2,806,272                         
Depreciation expense 9 587,516                            688,569                            
Finance costs 10 1,193                                3,137                                
Grants and subsidies 11 33,695                              29,105                              
Capital user charge 12 415,509                            965,365                            
Cost of sales 17 156,557                            152,701                            
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 21 -                                   39,753                              
Other expenses 13 591,819                            693,718                            
Total cost of services 13,016,577                       12,894,293                       

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 14 312,675                            313,218                            
Student fees and charges 15 902,089                            722,780                            
Ancillary trading 16 38,396                              13,326                              
Sales 17 238,643                            198,314                            
Commonwealth grants and contributions 18 22,123                              10,013                              
Interest revenue 19 227,843                            104,219                            
Other revenue 20 161,153                            92,007                              
Total revenue 1,902,922                         1,453,877                         

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 21 14,496                              -                                   
Total gains 14,496                              -                                   

Total income other than income from State Government 1,917,418                         1,453,877                         

NET COST OF SERVICES  (11,099,159)                     (11,440,416)                     

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 22
State funds 10,391,667                       10,253,256                       
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 788                                   136                                   
Resources received free of charge 718,449                            843,515                            
Total income from State Government 11,110,904                       11,096,907                       

11,745                              (343,509)                          

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

C Y O'Connor College of TAFE

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007 2006

Notes $ $
ASSETS
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 33 3,303,019                         3,182,708                         
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 33       304,869                            -                                   
Inventories 24 38,038                              49,604                              
Receivables 25 244,630                            916,330                            
Other current assets 26 41,346                              4,327                                
Total Current Assets 3,931,902                         4,152,969                         

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment 27 13,462,617                       12,484,791                       
Total Non-Current Assets 13,462,617                       12,484,791                       

TOTAL ASSETS 17,394,519                       16,637,760                       

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 29 92,752                              486,558                            
Provisions 30 662,697                            736,008                            
Other current liabilities 31 1,095,357                         1,139,344                         
Total Current Liabilities 1,850,806                         2,361,910                         

Non -Current Liabilities
Provisions 30 566,899                            420,522                            
Total Non-Current Liabilities 566,899                            420,522                            

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,417,705                         2,782,432                         

NET ASSETS 14,976,814                       13,855,328                       

EQUITY
Contributed equity 32 176,634                            176,634                            
Reserves 32 5,647,749                         4,154,431                         
Accumulated surplus 32 9,152,431                         9,524,263                         

TOTAL  EQUITY 14,976,814                       13,855,328                       

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007 2006

Notes $ $
Balance of equity at start of period 13,855,328                       11,412,548                       

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 32
Balance at start of period 176,634                            176,634                            
Capital contributions -                                   -                                   
Balance at end of period 176,634                            176,634                            

RESERVES 32
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at start of period 4,154,431                         1,368,142                         
Gains from asset revaluation 1,493,318                         2,786,289                         
Balance at end of period 5,647,749                         4,154,431                         

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS) 32
Balance at start of period 9,524,263                         9,867,772                         
Change in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (383,577)                          -                                   
Restated balance at start of period 9,140,686                         9,867,772                         
Surplus/(deficit) for the period 11,745                              (343,509)                          
Balance at end of period 9,152,431                         9,524,263                         

Balance of equity at end of period 14,976,814                       13,855,328                       

Total income and expenses for the period 1,505,063                         2,442,780                         

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 2007 2006

Notes $ $
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Recurrent state funding - Department of Education and Training 10,514,378                       9,352,402                         
Capital state funding - Department of Education and Training 300,000                            -                                   
Net cash provided by State Government 10,814,378                       9,352,402                         

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (7,300,859)                       (6,643,017)                       
Supplies and services (2,580,117)                       (1,847,559)                       
Grants and subsidies (33,695)                            (29,105)                            
Finance costs -                                   -                                   
Capital user charge (897,353)                          (483,521)                          
Cost of Sales (144,955)                          (132,607)                          
GST payments on purchases (303,425)                          (304,732)                          
GST payments to taxation authority (4,795)                              (8,350)                              
Other payments (1,085,591)                       (790,205)                          

Receipts
Fee for service 427,236                            390,619                            
Student fees and charges  869,333                            815,344                            
Ancillary trading 38,396                              13,326                              
Commonwealth grants and contributions 28,200                              10,013                              
Interest received 220,109                            104,088                            
GST receipts on sales 139,595                            126,614                            
GST receipts from taxation authority 213,029                            177,731                            
Other receipts 415,650                            290,325                            
Net cash used in operating activities 33 (9,999,242)                       (8,311,036)                       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 241,016                            303,144                            
Purchase of non-current physical assets (630,972)                          (769,009)                          
Net cash used in investing activities (389,956)                          (465,865)                          

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 425,180                            575,501                            

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 3,182,708                         2,607,207                         
   

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 33 3,607,888                         3,182,708                         

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

1     Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

(a) General 
The College's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007 have been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International
 Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the Framework) and
 Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations).

In preparing these financial statements the College has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and revised standards and interpretations from their 
operative dates as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and formerly the Urgent Issues Group (UIG).

The Australian Accounting Interpretations are adopted through AASB 1048 'Interpretation and Application of Standards' and are classified into those
corresponding to International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Interpretations and those only applicable in Australia.

The AASB has decided to maintain the Statements of Accounting Concepts (SAC 1 and SAC 2) and has continued to revise and maintain accounting
standards and the interpretations that are of particular relevance to the Australian environment, especially those that deal more specifically with not-for-profit
entity issues and/or do not have an equivalent IASB Standard or Interpretation.

(b) Early adoption of standards
The College cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by Treasurer's
Instruction (TI) 1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. No standards and interpretations that have been issued 
or amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the College for the annual reporting period ended 31 December 2007.

2     Summary of significant accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, these policies are consistent 
with those adopted in the previous year.

(a) General statement
The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the TIs. Several of these are modified 
by the TIs to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. For example, AASB 116 requires land and buildings to be measured at cost or fair value; 
TI 954 mandates the fair value option.

The Financial Management Act and the TIs are legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Modifications or clarifications to accounting standards through the TIs are to provide certainty and ensure consistency and appropriate reporting across 
the public sector. 

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for certain assets and liabilities 
which are measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar ($).

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the College’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 4 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are disclosed at note 5 ‘Key sources of 
estimation uncertainty’.

(c)  Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the College and entities listed at note 41 ‘Related bodies’.

(d) Contributed equity
UIG Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions to 
be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to , transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) are designated as contributions by owners per TI 955 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly
Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by/distributions to owners to where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. See note 32 'Equity'.

Repayable capital appropriations are recognised as liabilities.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

The majority of operating revenue of the College represents revenue earned  from student fees and charges, fee for service, ancillary services,  trading
activities and Commonwealth grants and contributions.



C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Rendering of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. The effective interest method which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset, is used where applicable.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the College obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually upon their receipt.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a particular manner or used
over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged
conditions are disclosed in the notes.

State funds
The funds received from the Department of Education and Training in respect of the delivery of services forming part of the Delivery Performance 
Agreement are included in State funds, disclosed under  'Income from State Government'. They are the result of training successfully tendered for under 
competitive tendering arrangements. This revenue is recognised at nominal value in the period in which the College meets the terms of the Agreement. 
See note 22 'Income from State Government'.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.

(f)  Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the unexpended portion of the borrowings.  A qualifying asset 
is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(g)  Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their 
useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are recognised as an expense in the Income Statement (other than where they
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 
After recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and the cost model for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of 
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by
reference to recent market transactions.  When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated 
depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use.  This normally applies where
buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is dependent on using the depreciated 
replacement cost, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the balance sheet date.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining
estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets
and existing use assets. Refer to note 27 'Property, plant and equipment' for further information on revaluations.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption
of their future economic benefits.

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is based on the straight line method over its useful life, using rates which are reviewed annually.   
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Buildings
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers
Plant, furniture and general equipment
Computing, communications and software (a)

Marine craft

Works of art controlled by the College are classified as property, plant and equipment which are anticipated to have very long and indefinite useful lives. 



C Y O'Connor College of TAFE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised.

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

(h)  Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date.  Where there is an indication of
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  As the College is a not -for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference
to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured.  

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each balance sheet date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling 
or where there is a significant change in useful life.

Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of assets' future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs or a significant change in useful life.

See note 28 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See note 2(o) 'Receivables' and note 25 'Receivables' for 
impairment of receivables.

(i)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and are presented
separately from other assets in the Balance Sheet.  Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.

(j) Leases
At the commencement of the lease term, finance lease rights and obligations are recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the 
leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.  The assets are disclosed as Property,
Plant & Equipment, and are depreciated over the period during which the College is expected to benefit from their use.  Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charge and reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The College has entered into  Memoranda of Understanding arrangements for the renting of premises. Payments under these agreements are expensed on a 
straight line basis over the term of these arrangements as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from these properties.

(k)  Financial instruments
The College has two categories of financial instruments:

Financial assets
•  cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and cash equivalents)
•  receivables

Financial liabilities
•  payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value.  Usually the transaction cost or face value is equivalent to fair value and sub-
sequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand
and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

(m) Accrued salaries

The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 23 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents) consists of amounts set aside over a period of ten
 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26.

Accrued salaries (see note 31 'Other liabilities') represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the end of the last pay period 
for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The College 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.

(n) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of 
inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis.

Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net realisable value.

See note 24 'Inventories'.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (impairment).  The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off.  The provision for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
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debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the College will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is
due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 2(k) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 25 ‘Receivables’.

A provision for impairment of receivables can only be raised if there is objective evidence of impairment.

(p)  Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the College becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  See note 2(k) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 29
'Payables'.

(q)  Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and/or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. See note 30 ‘Provisions’.

(i)  Provisions - employee benefits
Annual leave and long service leave
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within twelve months after the balance sheet date is recognised and measured at
the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Annual and long service leave expected to be settled more than twelve
months after the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Leave liabilities
are in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions.  In addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of 
service.

The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the balance sheet date on national government bonds with terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the College does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

Superannuation 
Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members or the Gold State Superannuation 
(GSS) Scheme, a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members.  Both schemes are administered by the Government Employees 
Superannuation Scheme (GESB).

The College has no liabilities for superannuation charges under those schemes, as the liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded
GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS Scheme
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the College to the GESBS. The concurrently funded part of the GSS Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded GSS Scheme obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the GSS Schemes became non-contributory
members of the West State Superannuation (WSS) Scheme. Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super (GESBS) Scheme. Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The College makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf
of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions ex-
tinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Schemes.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS Scheme transfer benefits and is recouped by the Treasurer for the 
employer's share. See also note 2(r) 'Superannuation expense'.

(ii)  Provisions - other
Employment on-costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as expenses and liabilities 
when the employment, to which they relate, has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of  'Other expenses' and are not included as part of 
the College's 'Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. (See note 13 'Other expenses' and note 30
'Provisions'.)

(r)  Superannuation expense
The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement:

(i) Defined benefit plans
Change in the unfunded employer’s liability (i.e. current service cost and actuarial gains and losses) assumed by the Treasurer in respect of current
employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the GSS Scheme;
and

(ii) Defined contribution plans
Employer contributions paid to the WSS Scheme, GESB Scheme and the equivalent of employer contributions to the GSS Scheme.

Defined benefit plans - in order to reflect the true cost of services, the movements (i. e. current service cost and actuarial gains and losses) in the liabilities 
in respect of the Pension Scheme and the GSS Scheme transfer benefits are recognised as expenses directly in the Income Statement.  As these liabilities 
are assumed by the Treasurer (refer note 2(r)(i)), a revenue titled ‘Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer’ equivalent to the expense is recognised under
'Income from State Government' in the Income Statement (see note 22 'Income from State Government').

Defined contribution plans - in order to reflect the College's true cost of services, the College is funded for the equivalent of employer contributions in
respect of the GSS Scheme (excluding transfer benefits). These contributions were paid to the GESB during the year and placed in a trust account ad-
ministered by the GESB on behalf of the Treasurer. The GESB subsequently paid these employer contributions in respect of the GSS Scheme to the 
Consolidated Fund.
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The GSS  Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, apart from the transfer benefit,
it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the College to GESB ex-
tinguish all of the College's obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute part of the cost of services provided by the 
College in the current year.

(s) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income and as assets or expenses, as appropriate,
at fair value.

(t) Jointly controlled operations
Interests in joint venture operations have been reported in the financial report including the share of assets employed in the joint ventures, the share of 
liabilities incurred in relation to the joint ventures and the share of any expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures in their respective classification 
categories. The College currently does not have any  'Jointly controlled operations'.

(u)  Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures  presented in the current financial year. 

3     Other policies not included in this Model

There are no other policies to be disclosed. 

4     Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

No significant judgements have been made that would materially alter the current financial results of the College. 

5     Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty as at the balance sheet date that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

A refund is probable to the Department of Education and Training for under delivery of the Delivery and Performance Agreement.  The amount of the refund is an estimate 
of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) in January 2008.  Final SCH data is not required to be submitted until the end of February 2008. Also the Invalid Module Enrolment (IME) 
rate which affects the refund calculation is not known at the time of reporting.

The discount rate of 6.8% applied to long service leave provisions was based upon the Commonwealth Government bond rate published by the Reserve Bank of Australia
at 31 December 2007. A salary inflation rate of 4.5% was used in estimating the employee benefit provision. 

The impairment in receivables is based upon the best estimate of the management of the college, based upon current collection status and historical experience with the debtors. 

6     Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The College has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2007:

1. AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]'). This Standard requires new disclosures
in relation to financial instruments. The Standard resulted in increased disclosures of risk exposure, both quantitative and qualitative, enhanced disclosure 
regarding components of the financial position and performance, and changes to the way of presenting certain items in the notes to the financial statements.
The application of this Standard has no financial impact.

2. AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements'. This Standard was revised and issued in October 2006 so that AASB 101 has the same requirements as 
IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities. The College is a not-for-profit entity and consequently, 
the application of this Standard has no financial impact.

3. AASB 2005-10 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, 
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]'. The amendments are as a result of the issue of AASB 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures', which amends the financial
instrument disclosure requirements in these standards. The application of this Standard has no financial impact.

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are considered to have no impact, or are not applicable, to not-for-profit entities:

AASB 2007-2                          ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118,           
                                                       AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]' 
UIG Interpretation 7               ''Applying the Restatement Approach under AASB 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies'
UIG Interpretation 8                ''Scope of AASB 2'
UIG Interpretation 9                ''Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives'
AASB Interpretation 10         ''Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment'

Voluntary changes in accounting policy
As at 1 January 2007, the College amended its asset capitalisation policy such that only purchases costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets (previously $1,000).
Assets capitalised in previous years with a cost of less that $5,000 were written out of the asset register and their cost and accumulated depreciation were written back to
accumulated surplus.  The net effect of this change resulted in a debit adjustment of $383,577 being posted to accumulated surplus as at 1 January 2007 .

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The College cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 'Application
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. Consequently, the College has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards
and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective. These will be applied from their application date:
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1. AASB 2007-4 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from ED 151 and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 112, 
114, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 139, 141, 1023 & 1038]'. The amendments arise as a result  of the AASB decision to 
make available all options that currently exist under IFRSs and that certain additional Australian disclosures should be eliminated. It is expected that the TIs 
will be amended to maintain the status quo when the Standard is first applied and consequently there will be no financial impact. The Standard is required to be 
applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

2. AASB 2007-5 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard - Inventories Held for Distribution by Not-for-Profit Entities [AASB 102]'. This amendment 
changes AASB 102 'Inventories' so that inventories held for distribution by not-for-profit entities are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss
of service potential. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

3. AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial Statements'. This Standard has been revised and will change the structure of the financial statements. These changes
will require that owner changes in equity are presented separately from non-owner changes in equity. The College does not expect any financial impact when
the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

4. AASB 123 'Borrowing Costs'. This Standard has been revised to mandate the capitalisation of all borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, con-
struction or production of qualifying assets. The College does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to 
be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

5. AASB 1049 'Financial Reporting of General Government Sectors by Governments'. This new Standard sets out requirements for the form and content
of General Government Sector (GGS) financial reports. This Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 July 2008.

6. AASB Interpretation 4 'Determining  whether an Arrangement contains a Lease [revised]'. This Interpretation was revised and issued in February 2007 to 
specify that if a public-to-private service concession arrangement meets the scope requirements of AASB Interpretation 12 'Service Concession Arrange-
ments' as issued in February 2007, it would not be within the scope of Interpretation 4. The College does not expect any financial impact when the Inter-
pretation is first applied. The Interpretation is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008.

The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are considered to have no impact, or are not applicable, to not-for-profit entities:

AASB 8                                                      ''Operating Segments'
AASB 2007-1                                            ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 11 [AASB 2]'
AASB 2007-2                                           ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 [AASB 1, AASB 117, AASB 118, 
                                                                        AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]'
AASB 2007-3                                           ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 [AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB 
                                                                        119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]'
AASB 2007-6                                            ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 111, 
                                                                         AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 & 12]'
AASB 2007-7                                            ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, AASB 5, AASB 107 & AASB 128]'
AASB 2007-8                                            ''Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101'
ERR                                                               ''Erratum: Proportionate Consolidation [AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 121, AASB 127, Interpretation 113]'
UIG Interpretation 11                                 ''AASB 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions'
AASB Interpretation 12                          'Service Concession Arrangements'
AASB Interpretation 13                          ''Customer Loyalty Programmes'
AASB Interpretation 14                           ''AASB 119 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction'
AASB Interpretation 129                        'Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures [revised]'.
AASB Interpretation 1003                     ''Australian Petroleum Resource Rent Tax'

Changes in accounting estimates
There are no changes in an accounting estimate that are likley to have an effect in the current period or is expected to have an 
effect in future periods.
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2007 2006
$ $

7 Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 7,251,512              6,762,167              
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 674,590                 625,684                 
Superannuation - defined benefit plans (c)(d) 788                        136                        
Long service leave (e) 56,670                   33,588                   
Annual leave (e) 2,164                     94,098                   

7,985,724            7,515,673              

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include the GESB Super, West State and Gold State Schemes (contribution paid).
(c) Defined benefit plans include the Pension and the Gold State Scheme (pre-transfer benefit). 
(d) An equivalent notional income is also recognised (see note 22 'Income from State Government').
(e) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 13 'Other expenses'. The
employment on-costs liability is included at note 30 'Provisions'.

8 Supplies and services
Consumables and minor equipment 1,071,956              431,620                 
Communication expenses 159,867                 152,305                 
Utilities expenses 148,030                 110,926                 
Consultancies and contracted services 1,354,671              1,431,943              
Minor works 31,274                   155,881                 
Repairs and maintenance 135,199                 175,564                 
Operating lease and hire charges 89,306                   53,215                   
Travel and passenger transport 68,072                   49,260                   
Advertising and public relations 138,452                 133,247                 
Supplies and services - other 47,737                   112,311                 

3,244,564              2,806,272              

9 Depreciation expense

Buildings 281,568                 252,701                 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 161,628                 136,675                 
Plant, furniture and general equipment 114,934                 143,828                 
Computers and communication network 27,505                   155,365                 
Marine craft 1,881                     -                         

587,516                 688,569                 

10 Finance costs
Other interest expenses - ATO General Interest Charge 1,193                     3,137                     

1,193                     3,137                     

11 Grants and subsidies
Apprentices and trainees (travel, accommodation and other off-the-job assistance) 33,695                   29,105                   

33,695                   29,105                   

12 Capital user charge
Capital user charge expense 415,509                 965,365                 

13 Other expenses
Doubtful debts expense (6,362)                    23,504                   
Employment on-costs (a) 533,846                 557,537                 
Donations -                         460                        
Student prizes and awards 2,233                     949                        
Losses and write-offs 45,594                   60,401                   
Other (b) 16,508                   50,866                   

591,819                 693,717                 
(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated
with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 30 'Provisions'. Superannuation
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment
on-costs.
(b)  Includes - miscellaneous expenses and recoups.

14 Fee for service
Fee for service - general 277,241                 283,580                 
Fee for service - Department of Education and Training -                         4,488                     
Fee for service - Government (other than Department of Education and Training) 34,668                   -                         
Fee for service - other 766                        25,150                   

312,675                 313,218                 

15 Student fees and charges
Tuition fees 499,924                 453,910                 
Enrolment fees 74,933                   74,599                   
Resource fees 326,695                 191,425                 
Other college fees 537                        2,846                     

902,089                 722,780                 

16 Ancillary trading
Contracting and consulting 38,288                   10,773                   
Other ancillary revenue 108                        2,553                     

38,396                   13,326                   

The charge was a levy applied by Government for the use of its capital.  In 2007, the final year in which the charge
was levied, a single payment was made equal to the appropriation for 2007 less any adjustment relating to 2006.
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2007 2006
$ $

17 Trading profit

(a) Bookshop:                                
Sales 158,573                 116,762                 

Cost of sales:
Opening inventory (49,604)                  (69,697)                  
Purchases (19,073)                  13,423                   

(68,677)                  (56,274)                  
Closing inventory                                                  38,038                   49,604                   

Cost of goods sold (106,715)                (105,878)                                                                          
Trading profit - Bookshop                                  51,858                   10,885                   

(c) Cafeteria (non-training related)
Sales 80,070                   81,552                   

Cost of sales:
Opening inventory -                         -                         
Purchases (49,842)                  (46,825)                  
Closing inventory -                         -                         

Cost of goods sold (49,842)                  (46,825)                  

Trading profit - Cafeteria 30,228                   34,727                   

Trading profit - Total 82,086                   45,612                   

See note 2(n) 'Inventories' and note 24 'Inventories'.

18 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions 22,123                   10,013                   

22,123                   10,013                   

19 Interest revenue
Interest revenue from bank accounts and term deposits 227,843                 104,219                 

20 Other revenue
Rental and facilities fees 14,633                   8,858                     
Sponsorship and donations revenue 21,527                   2,100                     
Miscellaneous revenue 124,993                 81,049                   

161,153                 92,007                   
21 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Carrying costs of disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers (202,295)                (287,656)                
Plant, furniture and general equipment (21,656)                  (37,748)                  
Computers and communication network (2,569)                    (675)                       
Total cost of disposal of non-current assets (226,520)                (326,079)                

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 241,016                 260,900                 
Plant, furniture and general equipment -                         21,427                   
Computers and communication network -                         3,815                     
Library Book recoveries -                         184                        
Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 241,016                 286,326                 

Net gain/(loss) 14,496                   (39,754)                  

22 Income from State Government

State funds (received from Department of Education and Training):
Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 8,811,359              8,362,588              
Superannuation 670,304                 627,945                 
Other recurrent funds 494,495                 297,358                 
Capital user charge funding 415,509                 965,365                 
Total State funds 10,391,667            10,253,256            

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year:
Superannuation (a) 788                        136                        
Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 788                        136                        

Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies (b):
Department of Education and Training
- Corporate systems support 622,460                 741,003                 
- Marketing and publications 8,035                     -                         
- Human resources, and industrial relations support 86,263                   75,717                   
- Other 1,691                     26,795                   
Total resources received free of charge 718,449                  843,515                 

Total income from State Government 11,110,904            11,096,907            

(a) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is notional  income to match the notional
superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees who are members of the Pension Scheme 
and current employees who have a transfer benefit entitlement under the GSS Scheme. (The notional super-
annuation expense is disclosed at note 7 'Employee benefits expense'.)

 Where the Treasurer or other entity has assumed a liability, the College recognises revenues equivalent to
the amount of the liability assumed and an expense relating to the nature of the event or events that initially 
gave rise to the liability. 

(b) Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the College recognises 
revenues (except where the contribution of assets or services is in the nature of contributions by owners, in 
which case the College shall make a direct adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/
or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not 
donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.
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23 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Deferred Salary (a) 14,232                   -                         
Income received in advance (b) 198,708                 -                         
Allocation of cash for future commitment to the 27th pay due in 2015 (c) 91,929                   -                         

304,869                 -                         
(a) Amount represents salary deferred by employees under scheme were they forgoe 20% of their pay for four years and 
take the fifth year as leave on full pay.

(b) Represents balance of external grant funding received but not yet expended on College projects repayable to the grantor if not expended.   

(c) This represents the amount set aside over a period of ten financial years to largely meet the additional cash
 outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26.

24 Inventories

Inventories held for resale:
Bookshop (at cost) 38,038                   49,604                   

38,038                   49,604                   
Less: Provision for obsolete stock -                         -                         
Total 38,038                   49,604                   

See also not 2(o) 'Inventories' and note 17 'Trading profit/(loss)'.

25 Receivables

Current
Receivables - trade 174,916                 395,379                 
Receivables - students 39,015                   44,236                   
Receivables - CUC (a) -                         481,844                 
Allowance for impairment of receivables (67,660)                  (74,022)                  
GST receivable 29,866                   710                        

176,137                 848,147                 
Prepayments 68,493                   68,183                   
Total current 244,630                 916,330                 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of year (74,022)                  (50,518)                  
Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Income Statement 6,362                     (23,504)                  
Balance at end of year (67,660)                  (74,022)                  

Credit Risk

The College assumed the following factors in determining the impairment of receivables:
Trade Debtors:
 (i) reviewed all outstanding debtors
 (ii) based on the age and historical information regarding the debt recovery processes, the College identified the accounts
      that were deemed unlikely to be recoverable, even if forwarded to a Debt Recovery Agent.

The College trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The College has policies in place to ensure
that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the College's exposure to debt is
minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

No collateral security is held by the College for receivables. 

The best estimate of management to the credit risk associated with receivables is reflected by the impairment provision 
recorded as at 31 December 2007.

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly government agencies or small companies. 
Most debts with Government agencies past due are considered collectable and not impaired as default is considered to be unlikley given the 
nature of this creditor. Collection of these debts are negotiated directly with senior levels of the both college and the agency concerned and 
traditionally this has resulted in payment of these debts to the college. Where government debts have been outstanding for more than 12 months
a specific provision for impairment has been made. 

During the year some students entered into student payment plans to pay their fees off over the year. These are structured such that debts are to be 
paid in full before the end of the year. Where this does not occur, students are required to pay the balance in full.  No student debts are subject to 
payment plans at balance date. 

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired based on the information provided by senior management,
as at the balance sheet date:
Not more than 3 months 94,634                   306,282                 
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 45,640                   59,311                   
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 3,942                     -                         
More than 1 year 2,056                     -                         

146,272                 365,593                 
Receivables individually determined as impaired as at the balance sheet date:
Carrying amount, before deducting any impairment loss 67,660                   74,022                   
Impairment loss (67,660)                  (74,022)                  

-                         -                         
All receivables currently with debt collection services is considered impaired and have been provided for.  

See also note 2(o) 'Receivables' and note 38 'Financial instruments'. 

26 Other assets

Current
Accrued income - interest on term deposit and bank accounts 12,063                   4,327                     
Other current assets - Recoups receivable from Department of Justice 29,283                   -                         
Total current 41,346                   4,327                     

(a) In 2007, the final year in which the charge was levied, a single payment was made equal to the appropriation for 2007 
less any adjustment relating to 2006.  No accrual required in 2007 as CUC has been abolished.
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27 Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value (a) 396,400                 104,800                 

396,400                 104,800                 
Buildings
At fair value (a) 12,000,000            11,194,300            
Accumulated depreciation (25,479)                  (139,929)                

11,974,521            11,054,371            
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 
At cost 677,164                 575,567                 
Accumulated depreciation (136,352)                (156,944)                

540,812                 418,623                 
Plant,  furniture and general equipment
At cost 923,350                 1,198,913              
Accumulated depreciation (432,383)                (613,540)                

490,967                 585,373                 
Computer equipment, communication network
At cost 183,354                 866,992                 
Accumulated depreciation (158,078)                (545,368)                

25,276                   321,624                 
Marine craft
At cost 36,522                   -                         
Accumulated depreciation (1,881)                    -                         

34,641                   -                         

13,462,617          12,484,791            

(a) Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2007 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Landgate). The valuations were performed during the year ended 31 December 2007 and recognised at 1 December 2007. 
The fair value of all land and buildings was determined by reference to market values. See note 2(g) 'Property, plant and equipment'.

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting 
period are set out below.

2007 Land Buildings
Motor vehicles,

caravans and trailers
Plant,  furniture and 

general equipment

Computer
equipment, 

communication
network Marine craft  Total 

Carrying amount at start of year 104,800                 11,054,371            418,623                 585,373                   321,624                 -                         12,484,791            
Additions -                         -                         486,112                 159,487                   -                         36,522                   682,121                 
Disposals -                         -                         (202,295)                (21,656)                    (2,569)                    -                         (226,520)                
Revaluation increments 291,600                 1,201,718              -                         -                           -                         -                         1,493,318              
Change in Asset Threshold -                         -                         -                         (117,303)                  (266,274)                (383,577)                
Depreciation expense -                         (281,568)                (161,628)                (114,934)                  (27,505)                  (1,881)                    (587,516)                

Carrying amount at end of year 396,400                 11,974,521            540,812                 490,967                   25,276                   34,641                   13,462,617            

2006 Land Buildings
Motor vehicles,

caravans and trailers
Plant,  furniture and 

general equipment

Computer
equipment, 

communication
network  Total 

46,900                   8,578,684              427,908                 556,437                   343,523                 9,953,452              
Additions -                         -                         414,933                 219,184                   134,892                 769,009                 
Transfers -                         -                         112                        633                          (745)                       -                         
Disposals -                         -                         (287,655)                (47,053)                    (681)                       (335,389)                
Revaluation increments 57,900                   2,728,388              -                         -                           -                         2,786,288              
Depreciation expense -                         (252,701)                (136,675)                (143,828)                  (155,365)                (688,569)                
Carrying amount at end of year 104,800                 11,054,371            418,623                 585,373                   321,624                 -                         12,484,791            

28 Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment of property plant, equipment and intangibles as at 31 December 2007.

The College held no goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful lives during the reporting period and at balance 
sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2007 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

29 Payables

Current 
Trade payables 1,886                     4,714                     
GST payable 90,866                   -                         
Capital user charge payable -                         481,844                 
Total current 92,752                 486,558                 

See also note 2(p) 'Payables' and note 38  'Financial Instruments'.

Carrying amount at start of year
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30 Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 180,017                 139,772                 
Long service leave (b) 355,783                 492,809                 
Salary deferment 14,232                   -                         

550,032               632,581                 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 112,665                 103,427                 
Total current 662,697               736,008                 

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 500,352                 361,428                 

500,352                 361,428                 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 66,547                   59,094                   
Total non-current 566,899               420,522                 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities
will occur as follow:
Within 12 months of  balance sheet date 169,876                 173,947                 
More than 12 months after  balance sheet date 75,488                   -                         

245,364                 173,947                 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of
the liabilities will occur as follows:
Within 12 months of balance sheet date 244,361                 562,061                 
More than 12 months of balance sheet date 725,640                 420,522                 

970,001               982,583                 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs 
including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The
associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 13 'Other expenses'.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 162,521                 181,103                 
Additional provisions recognised 16,691                   (18,582)                  
Carrying amount at end of year 179,212                 162,521                 

31 Other liabilities

Current 
Income received in advance (a) 1,932                     78,645                   
Grants and advances 198,708                 170,000                 
Accrued expenses 242,268                 232,449                 
Accrued salaries and related costs 54,707                   142,439                 
Amounts owing to Department of Training 597,742                 515,811                 

Total current liabilities 1,095,357              1,139,344              

(a) Income received in advance comprises:
Department of Education and Training - curriculum grants 122,052                 -                         
Other Government (Commonwealth/Local) 76,656                   -                         
Student fees and charges 1,932                     78,645                   

200,640                 78,645                   
(a) Grants received in 2007 not completed or acquitted.
    -  DET - Aspire Funding 62,779                   -                         
    -  DET - Intructional Intelligence Funding 7,199                     -                         
    -  DET - TSLAG Funding 52,074                   -                         
    - DET - VOIP Capital Grant -                         170,000                 
    -  Eworks  - CYOC Learn Funding 6,077                     -                         
    -  Aged Care Funding 54,394                   -                         
    -  Community Water Grant 16,185                   -                         

198,708                 170,000                 
32 Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the College.  The Government holds the equity interest
in the net assets of the College. The Government holds the equity interest in the College on behalf of the community.
The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year 176,634                 176,634                 

Balance at end of year 176,634                 176,634                 

(a) Capital Contributions (appropriations) and non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets from other
State Government agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer's Instruction TI 955
Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and are credited directly to equity.

(b) UIG Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' requires that where 
the transferee accounts for a transfer as a contribution by owner, the transferor must account for the transfer as a
distribution to owners. Consequently, non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets to other State 
Government agencies are distribution to owners and are debited directly to equity.

(c) TI 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of assets to Government to be accounted for as distribution to owners.
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Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at start of year 4,154,431              1,368,142              
Net revaluation increments:
Land 291,600                 57,900                   
Buildings 1,201,718              2,728,389              

5,647,749              4,154,431              

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of year 9,524,263              9,867,772              
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period 11,745                   (343,509)                
Change in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors (383,577)                -                         
Balance at end of year 9,152,431              9,524,263              

33 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash

Cash on hand 5,070                     4,070                     
Cash at bank 3,297,949              1,390,354              
Short term deposits - 3 month term -                         1,788,284              

3,303,019              3,182,708              
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 23 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') 304,869                 -                         

3,607,888              3,182,708              

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (11,099,159)           (11,440,416)           

Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 587,516                 688,569                 
Doubtful debts expense (6,362)                    23,504                   
Superannuation expense 675,378                 625,820                 
Resources received free of charge 718,449                 843,515                 
Net gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant  and equipment 14,496                   (39,753)                  
CUC Accrual -                         481,844                 
Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages/thefts of money) 45,410                   28,370                   

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (c) 180,273                 219,541                 
Current inventories 11,566                   20,093                   
Other current assets 21,238                   (130)                       
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (c) (484,672)                1,560                     
Current provisions (73,312)                  62,427                   
Other current liabilities (754,266)                130,258                 
Non-current provisions 146,377                 51,707                   

Net GST payments (a) 44,404                   (8,737)                    
Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) (26,580)                  791                        

Net cash used in operating activities (9,999,242)             (8,311,037)             

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables
(c) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable 
in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included as they are not reconciling items.

Non-cash financing and investing activities

There were no material non-cash financing or investment activities undertaken with external parties during the financial year.

34 Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments

Within 1 year -                         170,000                 
-                         -                         

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Communications upgrade - VOIP -                         170,000                 

Non Cancellable Operating Lease commitments

Within 1 year 64,200                   27,607                   
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 138,684                 28,168                   
Later than 5 years -                         117                        

202,884                 55,892                   

These commitments are all inclusive of GST.

35 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

The College Council is not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at balance date.

Contaminated sites

The College Council is not aware of any contaminated sites on any of the properties under its control as at balance date.

statements, are payable as follows:

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the
financial statements, are payable as follows:

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial 

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in 
the Balance Sheet as follows:
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36 Events occurring after the balance sheet date

The College Council is not aware of any other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year to the date of this report
which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the College, the results of those activities or the state of affairs of the 
College in the ensuing or any subsequent years.

37 Explanatory Statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below.  Significant
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $50,000 

Significant variations between estimated and actual results for 2007
2007 2007

Estimate Actual Variation Variation
$ $ $ %

Expense
Employee benefits expense (a) 7,864,059              7,985,724              121,665                 2%
Supplies and services (b) 2,728,744              3,244,564              515,820                 19%
Depreciation expense (c) 705,783                 587,516                 (118,267)                -17%
Capital user charge (d) 559,136                 415,509                 (143,627)                -26%
Other expenses (e) 520,088                 591,819                 71,731                   14%

Income
Revenue
Student fees and charges (f) 740,850                 902,089                 161,239                 22%
Ancillary trading (g) 13,659                   38,396                   24,737                   181%
Sales (h) 203,272                 238,643                 35,371                   17%
Interest revenue (i) 101,750                 227,843                 126,093                 124%
Other revenue (j) 94,307                   161,153                 66,846                   71%

(a) Employee Expenses

More casual staff were used than were expected per the 2007 estimates leading to greater costs. 

(b) Supplies and services

The estimate did not include the additional expenditure for asset purchases now expensed (previously capitalised)  arising from the change in the asset threshold.  In addition, there has been significant 
set-up costs associated with the new nursing course which started in 2007 which have been expensed. 

(c) Depreciation expense

Lower than 2007 estimate due to the increase in asset threshold to $5,000 which has reduced the asset base and hence depreciation expense. 

(d) Capital user charge 

Capital User Charge was discontinued by Treasury from 30 June 2007 and hence only six months expense was recorded.

(e) Other expenses

Change in asset threshold was finalised at time of drafting the 2007 estimate.  Costs associated with asset purchased previously capitalised but now expensed has increased this expenditure category. 

(f) Student fees and charges

Several new courses not previously run were subject to higher than expected enrolments and a focus on improving enrolments on 2006 levels has been achieved. 

(g) Ancillary trading

Additional income from Australian Wool Industry contract not included in 2007 estimate. 

(h) Sales

Bookshop sales were more than anticipated. 

(i) Interest revenue

Under estimation of interest income due to higher actual cash balances and increases in interest rates during the year. 

(j) Other revenue

Significantly higher recoups of student travel and living away from home expenditure from DET. 
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Significant variations between actual results for 2007 and 2006 2007 2006
Actual Actual Variance Variance

$ $ $ %
Expense
Employee benefits expense (a) 7,985,724              7,515,673              470,051                 6%
Supplies and services (b) 3,244,564              2,806,272              438,292                 16%
Depreciation expense (c) 587,516                 688,569                 (101,053)                -15%
Capital user charge (d) 415,509                 965,365                 (549,856)                -57%
Other expenses (e) 591,819                 693,718                 (101,899)                -15%

Income
Revenue
Student fees and charges (f) 902,089                 722,780                 179,309                 25%
Ancillary trading (g) 38,396                   13,326                   25,070                   188%
Sales (h) 238,643                 198,314                 40,329                   20%
Interest revenue (i) 227,843                 104,219                 123,624                 119%
Other revenue (j) 161,153                 92,007                   69,146                   75%

(a) Employee Expenses

Wages and salary expense was greater in 2007 due to 4% salary increase on 2006 levels, return of some staff from extended leave and greater use of casual staff. 

(b) Supplies and services

Additional expenditure previously capitalised but now expensed due to the change in asset threshold.  In addition, there has been significant set-up costs associated with the 
new nursing course which started in 2007 which have been expensed. 

(c) Depreciation expense

Lower than 2006 due to increase in asset threshold to $5,000. 

(d) Capital user charge 

Capital User Charge was discontinued by Treasury from 30 June 2007 and hence only six months expense was recorded.

(e) Other expenses

Reduced expenditure resulted from a return of contributions from Riskcover for previous years arising from better than expected claims record. 

(f) Student fees and charges

Several new courses not previously run were subject to higher than expected enrolments. 

(g) Ancillary trading

Additional income from Australian Wool Industry contract in 2007. 

(h) Sales

Improved bookshop sales. 

(i) Interest revenue

Additional interest income due to higher average cash balances in 2007 and increased interest rates from 2006. 

(j) Other revenue

Significantly higher recoups of student travel and living away from home expenditure from DET. 
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38 Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the College are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents,
and receivables and payables. The College has limited exposure to financial
risks. The College's overall risk management program focuses on managing the risk identified below:

Credit risk
The College trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The College has policies in place to ensure
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the College's exposure to debt is
minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The College has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows
 to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Interest rate risk 
The College's exposure to interest rate risk is limited to interest on cash and cash equivalents because the college 
 receivables and payables are non-interest bearing and it has no borrowings.

(b) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk exposures
The following table details the College's maximum exposure to credit risk, and the exposure to liquidity risk and interest 
rate risk as at the reporting date, based on information provided to senior management of the College.  The contractual 
maturity amounts in the table are representative of the undiscounted amounts as at the balance sheet date. An adjust-
ment for discounting has been made where material.

The College does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it 
holds.

The College does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise 
resulted in them being past due or impaired.

2007

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing 

 Total 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 6.25% 3,297,949              -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         5,070                     3,303,019              
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 304,869                 -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         -                         304,869                 
Receivables -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         244,630                 244,630                 
Other -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         41,346                   41,346                   

3,602,818              -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         291,046                 3,893,864              
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         1,886                     1,886                     
Other -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         1,095,357              1,095,357              

-                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         1,097,243              1,097,243              

2006

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Variable Interest 
Rate

Within  1 year 1-2 Years 2-3 Years  3-4 Years  4-5 Years  More than 5 years  Non-Interest 
Bearing 

 Total 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.86% 1,390,355              1,788,283              -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         4,070                     3,182,708              
Receivables -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         916,330                 916,330                 
Other -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         4,327                     4,327                     

1,390,355              1,788,283              -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         924,727                 4,103,365              
Financial Liabilities
Payables -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         4,714                     4,714                     
Other -                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         1,139,344              1,139,344              

-                         -                         -                         -                           -                         -                         -                         1,144,058              1,144,058              

Contractual maturity dates

Contractual maturity dates
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the College's financial assets and liabilities 
at the balance sheet date on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that
the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

Carrying amount
Profit Equity  Profit  Equity 

2007 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 3,303,019              (32,429)                  (32,429)                  32,429                   32,429                   
Receivables and other 285,976                 

Financial Liabilities
Payables , Employee Benefits and Other 1,097,243              -                         -                         -                         -                         

Carrying amount Profit Equity  Profit  Equity 
2006 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 3,182,708              (28,950)                  (28,950)                  28,950                   28,950                   
Receivables and other 920,657                 

Financial Liabilities
Payables , Employee Benefits and Other 1,144,058              -                         -                         -                         -                         

39 Total assets

Remuneration of members of the College and Senior Officers

Remuneration of members of the College
The number of members of the College whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$
       $0 - $10,000 4                            8                            

$150,001 - $160,000 1                            1                            

The total remuneration of the members of the College is: 159,482                 156,021                 

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the College in respect of members of the College.

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the College, whose total of fees,
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following
bands are:

$
$30,001 - $40,000 -                         1                            
$40,001 - $50,000 1                            1                            
$60,001 - $70,000 -                         1                            

$100,001 - $110,000 1                            -                         
$110,001  -$120,000 1                            1                            

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 267,947                 240,876                 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the College in respect of senior officers other
than senior officers reported as members of the College.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

40 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows: 60,000                   64,900                   

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

The expense is included in note 8 'Supplies and Services'.

41 Related Bodies

The College has no related bodies.

42 Affiliated Bodies

The College has no affiliated bodies.

43 Supplementary Financial Information

Write-Offs
Public property
Bad debts 45,410                   9,306                     
Inventory -                         2,564                     
Other Cash Shortages and rounding -                         29                          

Loses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public and other moneys and public and other property through theft, default or otherwise 292                        48,492                   
Amount recovered (109)                       -                         

44 Schedule of Income and Expenditure by Service

The College provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (9) and that is Vocational 
Education and Training Delivery.

- 1% change +1% change

- 1% change +1% change



Campus contact details:
Northam (Central Administration)
Lot 1 Hutt Street
PO Box 498
Northam WA 6401
Ph: 9622 6777
email: northam@cyoctafe.wa.edu.au

Narrogin
59 Fortune Street
PO Box 457
Narrogin WA 6312
Ph: 9881 9000
email: narrogin@cyoctafe.wa.edu.au

Merredin
42 Throssell Road
PO Box 542
Merredin WA 6415
Ph: 9081 3555
email: merredin@cyoctafe.wa.edu.au

Moora
242 Berkshire Valley Road
PO Box 329
Moora WA 6510
Ph: 9651 0111
email: moora@cyoctafe.wa.edu.au

www.cyoctafe.wa.edu.au
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